

NGO PERSPECTIVES ON THE EU's HUMANITARIAN – DEVELOPMENT – PEACE NEXUS VOICE REPORT



 $\langle igodot$

Þ

NGO PERSPECTIVES ON THE EU'S HUMANITARIAN-DEVELOPMENT-PEACE NEXUS APPROACH: EXPLORING THE CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

This report was researched by Manisha Thomas. It was written by Manisha Thomas and VOICE. Commissioned and edited by VOICE.

Graphic Design and Layout by Hearts and Minds. Copyright: VOICE, October 2019.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:

This study was commissioned by VOICE and carried out by Manisha Thomas. The report was written by Manisha Thomas and VOICE. The report would have been impossible without the contributions of case studies, position papers, and advice from VOICE members, especially the DRR-Resilience Working Group: Action Against Hunger, ADRA Germany, CARE International, DanChurchAid, Diakonie Katastrophenhilfe, We-World GVC, INTEROS, MercyCorps, MissionEast, NRC, OXFAM, Plan International, ReddBarna (Save the Children Norway), and World Vision International. A number of other stakeholders generously gave their time to assist with this study. Their names have been kept confidential, but we are very grateful to them for their participation in interviews.

We also are most grateful to the Myanmar INGO Forum, its members and some of their partners for their contributions and active participation in the workshop in Yangon, as well as to the EU Delegation and ECHO staff in Myanmar.

LIST OF ACRONYMS

AGIR - the Global Alliance for Resilience Initiative AICS - Italian Agency for Development Cooperation ARP – Area Rehabilitation Programme CISP – Comitato Internazionale per lo Sviluppo dei Popoli **CONCORD** – European NGO Confederation for Relief and Development **CPA** – Community Protection Approach CPG – Coordination Partners Group CSOs - civil society organisations DAC – Development Assistance Committee DEVCO - European Commission's Directorate-General for International Cooperation and Development DFID - British Department for International Development DPP – Durable Peace Programme DRC – Democratic Republic of the Congo DRR - disaster risk reduction **EC** – European Commission ECHO – European Commission's Directorate-General for European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations EiE – education in emergencies **EPLO** – European Peacebuilding Liaison Office EU – European Union **GA** – General Assembly GB – Grand Bargain GBV – gender-based violence HCT – Humanitarian Country Team HDP – humanitarian aid, development, and peace ICRC - International Committee of the Red Cross ICVA – International Council of Voluntary Agencies **IDPs** – Internally Displaced Persons INGO(s) - international non-governmental organisation(s) IOM – International Organization for Migration KBC - Kachin Baptist Convention

LCP – Lake Chad Programme

LNGO(s) - local non-governmental organisation(s) LRRD - linking relief, rehabilitation, and development M&E – monitoring and evaluation MONUSCO - United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission in the Democratic Republic of the Congo MS – Member States NDICI - Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument NGO(s) - non-governmental organisation(s) NNGO(s) - national non-governmental organisation(s) NRC – Norwegian Refugee Council NWoW – New Way of Working OCHA – United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs **ODI** – Overseas Development Institute **OECD** – Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development oPt - occupied Palestinian territories PI – Plan International PIN – People in Need SG - Secretary-General **SDGs** – Sustainable Development Goals SHARE – Supporting Horn of Africa Resilience Sida – Swedish International Development **Cooperation Agency** SOPs - standard operating procedures **UN** – United Nations **UNDAF** – United Nations Development Assistance Framework **UNHCR** – United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees VLSAs – Village Savings and Loan Associations **VOICE** – Voluntary Organisations in Cooperation in Emergencies WBPC - West Bank Protection Consortium WHS - World Humanitarian Summit

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	8
Objectives and Methodology	10
Case Studies and Interviews/Discussions	10
Myanmar Nexus Workshop	10
THE NEXUS LANDSCAPE	12
The World Humanitarian Summit and the Nexus	12
NGO Approaches to Overcoming the Humanitarian Development Divides	13
The Humanitarian-Development Divide in the EU – the VOICE Network's Consistent Engagement	15
2016 – A Watershed Moment: WHS, Refugees in the EU, the Nexus, and Protracted Crises	18
The Evolving Concept of Resilience	19
The Challenge of Integrating Peace into the Nexus	21
BOX: Piloting the EU Nexus Approach	23

FINDINGS: ENABLERS, AND BARRIERS TO A NEXUS APPROACH	24
A: Making the Right Choices to Shape a Nexus Approach	25
1) Genuinely Putting People at the Centre Requires Changing Programme Approaches	25
Case Study: Plan International's Regional Lake Chad Programme (LCP)	27
2) No Common Nexus Definition	28
Case Study: Developing Nexus Guiding Principles and a Toolkit, WeWorld-GVC Foundation	30
3) Collective Outcomes are still not Collectively Welcomed	31
4) A Lack of Consensus around the Triple Nexus	32
Case Study: Mercy Corps – Working at the Nexus of Humanitarian Action,	
Peacebuilding, and Development in Northeast Nigeria	34
5) Different Actors, Different Methods	35
Case Study: Complementarity in the Durable Peace Programme (DPP), Myanmar	37
B: The Nexus Framework Needs to Involve the Right People	39
1) Nexus Coordination is Needed	39
Case Study: Action Against Hunger: Implementing a Nexus Approach in Timbuktu, Mali	41
Case Study: FUTURE – Expanding Existing Social Protection Systems to	
Meet Humanitarian Needs in Malawi	43
2) NGOs Need to be more Consistently Engaged in Nexus Discussions	45
3) Local Actors Must be Meaningfully Engaged	45
Case Study: ADRA and the RISE Network: Education in Myanmar	47
C: Translating the Framework into Appropriate Tools	49
1) More Flexible, Multi-year Financing is Required for the Nexus	49
Case Study: CARE Jordan: A Unified, Holistic Response	51
2) Simplified and Harmonised Contractual Frameworks: An Essential Step to a Nexus Approach	52
3) Human Resources Play a Key Role in Successful Nexus Programming	54

Case Study: NRC Somalia: A Combination of a Crisis Modifier and Adaptive Programming 55

CONCLUSIONS	56
Realistic Expectations are Required for Success	56
RECOMMENDATIONS	58
1) Ensure a nexus approach, in line with humanitarian principles	
2) Build on NGOs' experiences and learn lessons	
3) Adapt financial frameworks and tools to a nexus approach	
4) All relevant actors need to work towards a culture shift	
ANNEX 1: MYANMAR WORKSHOP REPORT AND AGENDA	61
Background	61
Introduction	62
Workshop Purpose and Objectives	63
Agenda Workshop	63
NGO Good Practices of the Nexus Approach	66
Identifying the Enablers and Barriers to a Nexus Approach	67
Next Steps for Engagement	73
Conclusion and Follow-Up	74
Annex 1 A: Next Steps/Engagement on the (EU) Nexus Approach	75
Annex 1 B: Examples of NGO (EU) Nexus Programming in Myanmar	79

ANNEX 2: SELECTED RESOURCE LIST

83

INTRODUCTION

VOICE (Voluntary Organisations in Cooperation in Emergencies), founded in 1992, is a network representing 85 European non-governmental organisations (NGOs) active in humanitarian aid worldwide. VOICE is the main NGO interlocutor with the European Union on emergency aid and disaster risk reduction and it promotes the values of humanitarian NGOs. VOICE's engagement on the issue of better linking European humanitarian and development assistance is long-standing, thanks to the consistent engagement and expertise of members working in both areas.¹

Driven in large part by the extent of protracted crises and conflict-generated humanitarian needs and displacement, 2016-2018 marked a series of conceptual shifts, new policies, new funding approaches, and a new momentum to link relief, rehabilitation, and development, at the global and European levels. This linkage is broadly known as the humanitarian-development nexus, or increasingly, the "triple nexus," which includes a peace dimension.

As a response to the scale of global need, and the sense that the scope of humanitarian assistance has been widening to cover the inflexibilities and gaps in other (development) toolboxes, the nexus is viewed as highly relevant and, for some, a potential opportunity for humanitarian actors to go back to basics in crises and emergencies. In keeping with the experience of working across the gap, this study has solicited huge interest from NGOs. VOICE's DRR-Resilience Working Group, involving 17 VOICE members, has contributed greatly to this study.

With this report, VOICE has sought to identify the current challenges and opportunities of working in a nexus approach from the humanitarian NGO perspective and to support NGOs to engage with the EU on the nexus approach. Already back in 1994, it was recognised that NGOs were able to link relief and development activities, particularly when they worked with local communities and organisations. Some of the obstacles identified at the time included the different mind-sets of humanitarian and development actors, as well as the "different procedures, budgets and organisational cultures of relief and development" within donor agencies.² Twenty-five years on, with the urgent need to better address people's needs in protracted crises, this report documents the current enablers and barriers to working in a nexus approach in different contexts. Through a number of case studies, the evidence base from NGOs' own work demonstrates the nexus' advantages, particularly with regard to retaining a people-centred approach and implementing community resilience.

¹ See a selection of VOICE position papers on LRRD, DRR, and resilience in Annex 2.

² Ross et al., 1994, p. 1.

Most previous attempts generally have focused on linking humanitarian and development work. While some progress was made with each past attempt, some of the fundamental differences between humanitarian response and development – particularly in terms of ways of working, funding approaches, and structures – are persistent challenges.

This report, however, also identifies that there are limits to a nexus approach for humanitarian NGOs, particularly in the case of a triple nexus approach, e.g. if it endangers the humanitarian principles. With increasing efforts to bring together the different elements of the nexus toolbox, there is also a need to ensure that needs-based life-saving assistance does not become subsumed to broader political – or even security – agendas. While humanitarians operating in conflicts are among the first to recognise the importance of political solutions to conflict and for peace for affected populations, conflict prevention and peacebuilding require different approaches and timeframes, involve different stakeholders, and draw on different sources of funding.

The current focus on the nexus should also not be viewed as the only way of working. It is not a panacea and it cannot be seen as the "only game in town." Significant challenges remain in accessing and meeting the needs of people affected by conflicts and disasters. Each crisis is different and there is a consensus that the nexus approach should always be context specific. Because of increasing needs, there will always be humanitarian actors who retain their focus on providing life-saving humanitarian aid without engaging in the nexus approach.

In the context of growing needs, a global commitment to leave no one behind, and the sense that humanitarians are being stretched both beyond their capacity and comparative advantage, VOICE sees the nexus as an important opportunity to better address people's humanitarian and development needs, especially in protracted crises. VOICE hopes that this report can contribute to identifying and overcoming some of the persistent challenges associated with better linking aid efforts at the EU level.

OBJECTIVES AND METHODOLOGY

While NGO programming has long straddled the nexus, this way of working is not always well documented nor adequately showcased. This study identifies some of the opportunities and challenges of the nexus approach from a humanitarian NGO perspective. A mixed methodology was used to gather evidence and findings for the report: documentation review; interviews and discussions with VOICE members and key stakeholders; the gathering of case studies from VOICE members; and a workshop with local, national, and international NGOs and the EU in Myanmar (one of the EU's six nexus pilot countries), which gathered further examples of nexus programming.

Through this study a number of enabling factors were identified, which can contribute to more successful implementation of a nexus approach. A number of recommendations and ways forward are suggested to influence future work on the nexus, as well as to address some of the barriers to success.

CASE STUDIES AND INTERVIEWS/DISCUSSIONS

In order to identify what kinds of nexus programming NGOs are undertaking in different contexts, case studies were solicited from VOICE members and from NGOs in Myanmar. The criteria suggested for identifying case studies were as follows:

- Projects/programmes/work in a country/countries that has/have taken place over the last decade and has/have proven to be effective (i.e. through internal reviews, real-time reviews, or evaluations).
- Examples of how humanitarian and development programming and/or humanitarian/development/ peace programming have worked well.
- > The project or programme received funding from one or more donors.

The different case studies highlight varying approaches to implementing the nexus. Various factors make nexus programmes more – or less – successful. While VOICE members were asked to identify why they felt the case study was a good example, they were also asked to identify enabling factors, if apparent. At the same time, questions were also asked about what could have been done better. While many of the case studies provided considerable further detail, the most essential elements have been distilled down for the purposes of the study. Many of them demonstrated more than one finding, although not all may be visible in the case study as edited. More than 20 case studies were received. While not all the case studies have been included in this report in the interest of space, they have all – in combination with the interviews and other exchanges – informed the findings. The other case studies can be found on <u>VOICE website's publications and resources page</u>.

MYANMAR NEXUS WORKSHOP

While there have been calls from NGOs for the EU to engage NGOs in the joint analysis and development of action plans in the six EU pilot countries, this involvement has been limited to date. In order to facilitate the engagement of NGOs in one of the pilot countries, a one and a half-day workshop was organised with NGOs, the EU delegation, Member States, and the UN in March 2019 in Yangon, Myanmar. A fuller workshop report, agenda, and methodology for potential replication in other EU nexus pilot countries is annexed to this report (Annex 1).

THE HUMANITARIAN-DEVELOPMENT-PEACE NEXUS FROM INTERNATIONAL FRAMEWORKS TO EU IMPLEMENTATION



In the first WHS in 2016, humanitarian actors and donors committed to transcend the humanitarian-development divide, to ensure that humanitarian needs are met, while at the same time risks and vulnerabilities are reduced over multiple years, based on the comparative advantage of a diverse range of actors.



Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

By focusing on supporting the most vulnerable people in order to Leave No One Behind, the SDGs offer new opportunities for the humanitarian aid and development communities to work better together. Many of the 169 targets (from the 17 Goals) provide potential for the nexus to be implemented. Approaches like Disaster Risk Reduction and Resilience are integrated into the various goals of the SDGs.



The UN New Way of Working

The New Way of Working (NWoW) name made its first appearance at the WHS in May 2016 under the Commitment to Action: Transcending humanitarian– development divides. It is described as a method of working encouraging partnership between humanitarian, development, and peace actors. The concept of 'collective outcomes' is at the heart of the NWoW and can be described as the result that the involved actors want to have achieved at the end of a 3-5 years period in order to reduce needs, risks, and vulnerabilities.



The nature of today's crises often requires both development and humanitarian assistance, together with more flexible funding mechanisms and programmatic approaches. The humanitariandevelopment nexus is now on the EU agenda and is seen as a key tool for addressing complex and proctracted crises. The nexus calls for increased coordination, joint humanitarian-development approaches and collaborative implementation, monitoring, and progress tracking. In the Council conclusions on operationalising the humanitariandevelopment nexus, the Council recommends that the Commission and the EU Member States reinforce the links between humanitarian and development actors. They also recommend that they take forward their work in a number of pilot countries, starting with joint analyses and implementing it through coherent multiyear programming while respecting their distinctive mandates. In late 2018, the EU Member States acknowledged the peace dimension of the nexus.

THE GRAND BARGAIN

Endorsed at the WHS by major aid organisations and humanitarian donors, the Grand Bargain commits its signatories to 53 engagements grouped around 10 work streams. The nexus is meant to be mainstreamed, notably by strengthening investment in prevention, mitigation and preparedness; multi-year funding and planning; performing joint multi-hazard risk and vulnerability analysis; and exploring new partnerships.

A chronology of the EU policy framework

2001: European Commission (EC) Communication on Linking Relief, Rehabilitation and Development (LRRD)

2007: European Consensus on Humanitarian Aid, (Chapter 5 on LRRD and Disaster Risk Reduction 'Continuum and contiguum')

2012: EC Communication on the EU Approach to Resilience

2013: Action Plan for Resilience in Crisis Prone Countries 2013-2020

April 2016: EC Communication on forced displacement and development

May 2017: Council Conclusions on Operationalising the Humanitarian-Development Nexus

May 2017: New European Consensus on Development

June 2017: EC and European External Action Service Joint Communication on a Strategic Approach to Resilience

Nov. 2017 Council conclusions on Strategic Approach to Resilience in the EU's External Action

Jan. 2018 Integrated approach to conflicts and crisis

THE NEXUS LANDSCAPE

In 1967, the High Commissioner for Refugees, Sadruddin Aga Khan, when addressing the UN General Assembly (GA) optimistically stated that, "We have, I believe, won acceptance for the argument that development plans which disregard the presence of large numbers of refugees, often as many as hundreds of thousands of persons, amidst the indigenous population, would quite simply be doomed to failure."³ It would take nearly 50 years before that argument became a clearer commitment at the World Humanitarian Summit (WHS) in May 2016 and by States in the *New York Declaration for Refugees and Migrants*, adopted by the UN GA in October 2016.

THE WORLD HUMANITARIAN SUMMIT AND THE NEXUS

The World Humanitarian Summit (WHS) in 2016 marked an important milestone for commitments around better linking humanitarian and development actions. The UN Secretary-General (SG) and several heads of UN entities, with the endorsement of the World Bank and the International Organization for Migration (IOM), committed to "Transcending humanitarian-development divides" and to move "from delivering aid to ending need" by implementing a 'New Way of Working'.⁴ They committed to working to collective outcomes over multi-year timeframes in a collaborative manner based on the comparative advantages of diverse actors, depending on the context. The commitment clarified that there would be situations where humanitarian responses would continue to be necessary and that "nothing should undermine the commitment to principled humanitarian action."

The UN system reforms that have taken place since the WHS have tried to operationalise the New Way of Working (NWoW) and brought in the peace element into the nexus. As noted in the SG's July 2017 report to the UN GA on *Repositioning the UN*, "The New Way of Working is about offering a concrete path to removing unnecessary barriers between humanitarian and development actors as they jointly work towards strengthened investments in sustainable development, people and institutions, and doing so as early as possible. It is also about protecting sustainable development gains where possible, and preventing the loss of peace dividends whenever a crisis or shock hits" (para. 78).

³ Statement by Prince Sadruddin Aga Khan, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, to the Third Committee of the United Nations General Assembly at its 1519th meeting, 20 November 1967, quoted in *Forced Migration Review*, 2016.

⁴ <u>https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/files/whs_commitment_to_action - transcending_humanitari-an-development_divides_0.pdf</u>

The Grand Bargain – also adopted at the WHS – committed donors and humanitarian organisations to a number of quid pro quo commitments to "better serve people in need." Amongst the Grand Bargain commitments that can have a positive impact on the nexus approach are those around increasing support and funding for local and national responders; collaborative humanitarian multi-year planning and funding; and enhancing engagement between humanitarian and development actors.

The recent nexus efforts have benefitted from the work of various previous attempts. Earlier iterations have included, *inter alia*: the relief to development continuum; linking relief, rehabilitation, and development (LRRD); the transition between humanitarian and development responses; bridging the



humanitarian-development gap; and addressing the humanitariandevelopment divide. The 1980s' food crises in Africa are cited as first giving rise to the concept of LRRD.⁵ LRRD continued to be on the agenda into the 1990s, with resilience as a key related concept arriving early in the 21st century.

NGO APPROACHES TO OVERCOMING THE HUMANITARIAN - DEVELOPMENT DIVIDES

Humanitarian NGOs are essential implementers of principled humanitarian aid across a range of contexts. NGOs work in varying types of responses, including in conflicts; sudden on-set disasters (such as earthquakes or floods); slow on-set disasters (such as droughts); and (protracted) displacement situations. They work with internally displaced persons (IDPs) and refugees, as well as host communities and authorities. Each response is tailored to the specific environment and needs that arise: no two responses are alike. NGOs generally aim to design programmes by working with communities and individuals, taking into account all their diversity, for example, looking at the different needs of women, girls, boys, and men of all different ages and considering their different (dis)abilities, qualities, cultures, and characteristics.

⁵ See Christopolos, I., 2006, citing Wijkman, A. and L. Timberlake, 1988, *Natural Disasters:* Acts of God or Acts of Man?.

Working in these different contexts, NGOs have looked at ways to better link humanitarian responses with development (and peace) responses over decades. NGOs have extensive experience in working to help build the resilience of communities and individuals so that they can cope better with, and/or reduce the impact of, crises. NGOs facilitate disaster risk reduction (DRR) through tailored programmes as a way to help reduce humanitarian needs when crises occur. They have also worked to link humanitarian responses (or 'relief') to rehabilitation and development where possible, while ensuring the humanitarian principles are respected. NGOs have taken a principled approach, while ensuring that the work they do helps in practice to save lives in the short-term, but also prevents further suffering in the medium- to long-term, of the individuals and communities with which they work.

It is important to note that the work undertaken by NGOs has focused on individuals and communities affected by disasters and conflicts. This approach is unlike many of the current nexus discussions in which States and the UN often emphasise the need to build State resilience and work with State actors.



NGOs at work, Restoring hope to recover after Cyclone Sagar, Somalia. © NRC



NGOs at work, Mali © Action Against Hunger

THE HUMANITARIAN-DEVELOPMENT DIVIDE IN THE EU – THE VOICE NETWORK'S CONSISTENT ENGAGEMENT

This NGO experience of working in different humanitarian contexts across the nexus has been the reason behind the VOICE network's long-standing work around the issue. Given its expertise, VOICE has particularly focused its engagement around the nexus vis-à-vis the EU. As the largest humanitarian donor, the EU recognises that NGOs are among its key partners. The 2007 European Consensus on Humanitarian Aid recognises that NGOs "are essential to the humanitarian response as they deliver the majority of international humanitarian aid due to their field-presence and flexibility, often with a high-level of specialisation" (para 49).

In 1996, the European Commission (EC) of the European Communities issued its first Communication on LRRD. It also addressed the need to look at different contexts, include a gender analysis, and consider the role of peacebuilding in development cooperation strategies and conflict prevention.

VOICE and its members have consistently sought to highlight some of the opportunities – as well as the very real challenges – of these various approaches. For example, a joint publication by VOICE and Comitato Internazionale per lo Sviluppo dei Popoli (CISP) in 2001 called for greater flexibility in the European Development Fund; better coordination between the different parts of the EU; and measures to enable greater community participation from the beginning of responses.

The 2001 European Commission Communication on LRRD also recognised that disaster prevention and preparedness needed to be considered in humanitarian programmes and in development cooperation strategies. Additionally, the Communication noted that, particularly in conflicts, the link between relief and development needed to be viewed in "a broader context: political, developmental and humanitarian. It should be part of a consistent EU approach towards crises that links Community and Union interventions in an integrated way."⁶

⁶ Commission of the European Communities, 2001, p.7.

The vital role that development and prevention could play in reducing the need for humanitarian responses was highlighted, for example, in a 2002 VOICE statement on LRRD:

NGOs consider LRRD as one of the most crucial strategies in order to achieve sustainable development. Long-term development strategies have to include prevention and preparedness activities concerning conflict and natural disasters in order to reduce vulnerability to emergencies. Experience shows that if enough attention is given to prevention measures, the costs of humanitarian activities are reduced, and the loss in terms of human lives and infrastructure is reduced.⁷

The response to the 2004 tsunami saw NGOs implementing an LRRD approach to the extent possible. However, as noted in a joint European NGO Confederation for Relief and Development (CONCORD)-VOICE publication one year after the tsunami, the structure and organisation of the European Commission could be improved to better enable LRRD and disaster preparedness.⁸

The 2007 Council of the European Union ("Council") *Conclusions on Security and Development* further emphasised the links between development, peace, and security and called on the "nexus between development and security" to inform EU strategies and policies.

In 2007 VOICE members were very engaged in the development of the *European Consensus on Humanitarian Aid* (recently reconfirmed by its signatories, the European Commission, Council, and the European Parliament), which further emphasised the importance of coordination between humanitarian and development actors for LRRD to be successful.



The European Parliament, Council and Commission reconfirming the relevance of the European Consensus on Humanitarian Aid in 2017.

⁷ VOICE Statement, 2002, p.1.

⁸ CONCORD and VOICE, 2005, p. 24.

By 2012 the notion of resilience – framed as part of the development process – was being increasingly reaffirmed in various EU policies. In a 2012 VOICE position paper, *Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR) – a fundamental element of building resilience*, the need for enhanced investments in DRR to enhance community resilience was also emphasised, as was the need for DRR to be prioritised in development programming.

A 2012 joint VOICE-CONCORD position paper on LRRD highlighted some of the reasons for the 'gap' between humanitarian and development responses, which included organisational silos, bureaucratic hurdles, different funding structures, as well as differing skills and approaches. It also called for greater linkages between humanitarian and development donors and for DRR to be funded in development budget lines, among other recommendations.

Building on the 2012 EU Communication on The EU Approach to Resilience: Learning from Food Security Crises,⁹ the 2013 Council conclusions on EU approach to resilience noted that:

...resilience is understood to mean the ability of an individual, a household, a community, a country or a region to prepare for, to withstand, to adapt, and to quickly recover from stresses and shocks without compromising long-term development prospects. The new approach to building resilience provides an opportunity to bring together political dialogue, humanitarian and development work and priorities in a comprehensive, coherent and effective approach to achieve better results on the ground.¹⁰

These conclusions were then implemented through flagship EU resilience building programmes such as AGIR (the Global Alliance for Resilience Initiative) in the Sahel and SHARE (Supporting Horn of Africa Resilience) in East Africa.

A 2014 VOICE study on *The European Consensus on Humanitarian Aid: an NGO Perspective* highlighted that there was still a need for better coordination between humanitarian and development agencies and more flexible LRRD funding to respond to evolving needs.

⁹ European Commission, 2012, The EU Approach to Resilience: Learning from Food Security Crises.

¹⁰ Council of the European Union, 2013, p. 1.

2016 – A WATERSHED MOMENT: WHS, REFUGEES IN THE EU, THE NEXUS, AND PROTRACTED CRISES

In advance of the first World Humanitarian Summit, refugees were arriving in the EU in 2015 in unexpectedly large numbers. While the influx precipitated political divisions and a crisis in the European Union, it also focussed minds on the number and complexity of the protracted displacement crises globally. Humanitarians were involved in a growing list of activities and sectors to address the longer-term needs of crisis-affected people, without necessarily having the comparative advantage or sufficient resources to do so. This phenomenon was the result of humanitarians trying to fill the gap where tools were too inflexible and/or too little development was taking place by stretching their mandates and expertise.

Just prior to the WHS, in April 2016, a new policy framework in the form of a Communication was issued by the European Commission on *Lives in Dignity: from Aid-dependence to Self-reliance – Forced Displacement and Development*, which "put forward a policy framework to prevent forced displacement from becoming protracted and to gradually end dependence on humanitarian assistance...."¹¹ The policy framework "aims to connect different instruments and actions to ensure that the EU has an **effective, full-cycle multi-actor approach to tackle forced displacement**."¹² The Communication recognised that,

A 'one-size-fits-all' approach is...not workable...the EU is committed to providing the **policy framework** for a more **efficient**, **context-specific** and **dignified global response** to forced displacement....by bringing together its approaches to political issues, conflict prevention, development, human rights and humanitarian assistance, and by bolstering the resulting nexus.¹³

¹¹ European Commission, 2016, p. 2.

¹² European Commission, 2016, p. 5

¹³ European Commission, 2016, p. 4.

The Communication went further, citing the need for different actors to work together:

To implement the new policy framework to operate efficiently, existing operational silos must be overcome. **Political actors** need to be more involved in negotiations to surmount obstacles preventing displaced people from developing their potential. Humanitarian and development actors operate within different structural, programming and funding cycles and procedures which do not reflect the real **long-term needs of the displaced people or the host communities**....

Stronger cooperation between development and humanitarian actors – with **closer links in funding at programming level, exchange and assessment of information, and target setting** – can enable the design of more effective and lasting **protection** and **self-reliance** strategies.¹⁴

The Lives in Dignity Communication in many respects already describes a nexus approach for the EU.

THE EVOLVING CONCEPT OF RESILIENCE

At the same time, the EU's view of resilience was further developed in the 2016 document, *Shared Vision, Common Action: A Strong Europe – A Global Strategy for the European' Union's Foreign and Security Policy* issued the month after the WHS. In Europe, security and terrorism were high on the agenda and the EU Strategy called for an expansion of the "comprehensive approach to conflicts and crises." It clarified that the EU would invest in State resilience, as well as the resilience of individuals and societies (in addition to energy and environmental resilience). In this context, countries of origin and countries of transit of refugees and migrants were also to be a focus of resilience efforts. NGOs, across the humanitarian-development-peace sectors, strived to influence this process to balance security interests with the protection needs of individuals and States' responsibilities under international law. The EU's 2016 Global Strategy, the WHS, and the 2016 *Lives in Dignity* Communication set the stage for a further Joint Communication from the European Commission and the High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy: *A Strategic Approach to Resilience in the EU's External Action* in 2017.

¹⁴ European Commission, 2016, p. 5.

VOICE members highlighted a number of issues throughout 2017, first during consultations on the draft Joint Communication and then in dialogue with the European Parliament. The network emphasised in particular its view that a widened concept of resilience – beyond individuals and communities – was of limited value; that needs-based humanitarian assistance would remain crucial: that development actors should lead implementation of the new resilience approach in support of Agenda 2030; and that the EU should focus on a 'people centred, context specific, and flexible approach.'

The Member States responded with a variety of Council Conclusions, which were issued at the time and in the years that followed, including on *Operationalising the Humanitarian-Development Nexus* (2017) and Council conclusions on State and societal resilience (2017), which recalled:

the **importance of resilience in ongoing work on operationalising the humanitariandevelopment nexus**, which should now be rolled out in line with the Council's Conclusions in May, **starting from a number of pilot countries**. It welcomes current work on the integrated approach to violent conflict and crises, which aims to strengthen the EU's efforts to prevent and resolve conflict and to foster sustainable peace, and will incorporate a strong resilience dimension.

VOICE recalled its main priorities in relation to the humanitarian-development nexus at its 2018 annual General Assembly in a policy resolution: *Ensuring people's needs are at the heart of the nexus approach: a humanitarian NGO perspective.*

SUCCESSFULLY IMPLEMENTING THE HUMANITARIAN-DEVELOPMENT NEXUS IMPLIES:

- ensuring people's needs are at the centre of the process, including through involvement of NGOs at field level;
- more multi-year planning and funding in humanitarian activities and the systematic introduction of crisis modifiers in development activities;
- conducting lessons learned to ensure the further development of the nexus approach and a commitment to it in the long term;
- busing the opportunity to enhance a community resilience approach; and
- > respecting and promoting IHL and humanitarian principles.

The policies on an EU Integrated Approach to External Conflicts and Crises followed and on Education in Emergencies and Protracted Crises in 2018. Together, these EU policies on resilience, protracted crises, the nexus, the integrated approach, and education in emergencies have all helped lay the groundwork for the operationalisation of the EU's nexus approach.

THE CHALLENGE OF INTEGRATING PEACE INTO THE NEXUS

Humanitarian NGOs, along with other humanitarian actors, work to save lives and restore human dignity in the face of natural and man-made disasters. This mandate shapes how humanitarians work. In order to ensure crisis-affected populations' safe access to assistance and protection, how humanitarians are perceived and accepted by the communities is crucial to maintain their access and security. To ensure this access and security, humanitarians strive to work to the humanitarian principles of humanity, impartiality, independence, and neutrality.

For many VOICE members that also work on development, linking humanitarian aid and development work is a daily endeavour, which has been reflected in the network's engagement with the EU. The question is not whether to link the two, but when and how. The consistency of the messages around what is needed to improve the linkage also shows how challenging making the links can be.

The 'peace' part is even more complex. Many members have actively integrated the principle of 'do no harm' into their work and are working towards peace, for instance, by further integrating conflict sensitivity into their approaches. Only a smaller number of them explicitly consider peacebuilding as part of their mandate.

Most of the EU's efforts in recent years have been focussed on making the links between humanitarian responses and development actions, including the commitment to have greater coordination in a number of countries in the South. Peace efforts have not been a consistent element in the previous nexus-like attempts of the EU. With the adoption of the EU's *Council Conclusions on the Integrated Approach to External Conflicts and Crises* and various discussions in 2018, the 'triple nexus' has become increasingly part of the EU's nexus deliberations and understanding.

Efforts are still underway to try to clarify the scope of what the 'peace' element means for the EU's nexus approach. There is neither a common definition or understanding of which elements of 'peace' are considered to be part of the triple nexus nor a real consensus on its added-value. For many VOICE members who are working in the humanitarian and development spheres, 'peace' generally involves working with communities around conflict resolution, reconciliation, building social cohesion, or peacebuilding at a community level. Some States consider 'peace' much more from the perspective of political processes, peacekeeping, peacebuilding, or the human security dimension. Increasingly, however, for many States the peace element is about security, counter-terrorism measures, and stabilisation issues; which is a concern because, as one stakeholder noted, "in peace, humanitarian principles vanished." The peace element was added without knowing exactly "what we were talking about."

Thanks to the engagement of the whole humanitarian community at EU level, the EU's Integrated Approach to External Conflicts and Crises is meant to keep humanitarian aid "In-But-Out" with aid clearly firewalled: "EU humanitarian aid is not a crisis management instrument as such and therefore should not be used for accomplishing any other objectives beyond humanitarian ones."¹⁵ This firewalling is positive at policy level. However, these policies need to be implemented. With the 'peace' element, humanitarian NGOs have observed with concern that States approach the nexus in a manner that may tend to instrumentalise aid for security or political objectives. While on paper, humanitarian objectives and principles are to be sacrosanct in the EU's Integrated Approach, the reality on the ground is that NGOs are increasingly seeing that political and security interests can seem to dominate. Similarly, with the UN's New Way of Working, there are concerns that "collective outcomes" could undermine humanitarian principles. In the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), for example, the peace element was seen to be common to be conversations around collective outcomes to the potential detriment of humanitarian access to vulnerable populations.

Throughout the discussions around nexus-type approaches, VOICE has continued to emphasise the crucial role that NGOs play and the importance of ensuring and respecting principled humanitarian aid in any response linking humanitarian, development, and/or peace actions.

 $^{\rm 15}$ Council of the European Union, January 2018, para 7, p. 4.

PILOTING THE EU NEXUS APPROACH

The Commission chose six countries in 2017 in which to pilot only the humanitarian-development nexus with EU Member States: Chad, Iraq, Myanmar, Nigeria, Sudan, and Uganda. While they were chosen with limited (if any) consultation with EU Member States, they were already part of the list of 14 countries where European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations (ECHO) and the Commission's Directorate-General for International Cooperation and Development (DEVCO) had committed to work on humanitarian-development cooperation.

Each pilot country was to develop an action plan of how they would take the nexus forward. The update in 2018 showed varying progress between the countries. As a first step, ECHO, along with political and development cooperation sections in EU Delegations in the pilot countries generally started to work together before bringing in Member States. There was very limited engagement with NGOs or civil society in most of the pilot countries on the nexus.

Each of the pilot countries has been developing nexus strategies or action plans based on a joint situation analysis, which often included conflict analysis as a starting point. The EU's approach could be seen as a *de facto* sign to focus on the triple nexus. Member States gave a 'green light' to the EU institutions to work on the triple nexus at an informal meeting of ministers in the autumn of 2018. Among the pilot countries, Uganda and Chad are also rolling out the Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework (CRRF). Chad, Sudan, and Uganda have developed collective outcomes under the UN's New Way of Working. However, progress has been uneven and considerable work remains before the pilot countries can successfully say they have put the nexus into action.

FINDINGS: ENABLERS AND BARRIERS TO A NEXUS APPROACH

The VOICE network has consistently engaged in the EU's policy development, based on the field experience of its 85 members currently working in over 60 countries. Against this backdrop of commitments, policies, and decisions, the nexus is being implemented in many practical ways. While the EU nexus pilots are still works in progress, there are numerous NGO examples of programmes and projects that link humanitarian, development, and/or peace responses for crisis-affected people all over the world. The case studies submitted by VOICE members and the findings of the nexus workshop in Myanmar all provide insights into what works well and what works less well. The case studies highlighted in this report reflect different contexts and approaches to show what nexus programming can look like in practice with increased support from donors. However, just as there is no agreed definition of the nexus, there is also no common agreement – as of now – on what constitutes good nexus programming. Similarly, as Mosel and Levine noted already in 2014:

Evaluation studies on LRRD [...] found that the key to successful LRRD programmes is less in LRRD planning or LRRD-specific approaches, but in [those] interventions that had strong engagement and local partnerships on the ground [which] were best able to marry short- and long-term perspectives. A good LRRD programme, in other words, is first and foremost a good programme.¹⁶

Looking back at the predecessors to the current nexus approach, and looking at the current efforts, it is clear that there are a number of factors that can enable – or can be barriers – to a successful nexus approach. Real effectiveness and efficiency gains can be made by giving attention to addressing the barriers in the field, rather than the gaps in policy, in order to strengthen the impact of NGOs' and other aid partners' work with, and for, crisis-affected populations.

Many of the findings related to the nexus are not new. The findings identify where there are still areas that require further efforts to ensure that the nexus succeeds this time where other attempts have fallen short. Some of the most fundamental challenges facing nexus programming are donor, organisational, and institutional barriers. Most of them will take years to adapt and require political will and commitment from relevant actors to have a tangible impact in the field. This fact is especially true given that enablers to the nexus approach can also be current barriers that are in place and which need to be addressed. If unaddressed, these barriers often prevent genuinely putting people and communities affected by crises at the centre of responses, which is essential if the nexus approach is to truly be successful.

¹⁶ Mosel and Levine, 2014, p. 13.

A: MAKING THE RIGHT CHOICES TO SHAPE A NEXUS APPROACH

The numerous policies and documents around the nexus and the UN's 'New Way of Working' contain appropriate language around ensuring that the nexus protects principled humanitarian action and is context-specific. EU and UN documents around the nexus contain the right caveats, for the most part, to enable humanitarian action to respond to needs. Various documents also refer to the need to put affected people at the centre of responses and to include NGOs and civil society in nexus discussions. The reality, however, is that many of these policies are not yet reflected in the systems and practices that enable the nexus to be put into practice. Some of the main findings around the nexus policies and their operationalisation are related to fundamental issues for all the actors involved.

1. GENUINELY PUTTING PEOPLE AT THE CENTRE REQUIRES CHANGING PROGRAMME APPROACHES

A telling finding of the Myanmar nexus workshop – and which came out clearly in many of the case studies – is that for the nexus to work, it must genuinely put affected communities and individuals at the centre of responses. There are numerous commitments, many developed by NGOs, which emphasise putting people at the centre of humanitarian responses. The 1994 *Code of Conduct for the Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement and Non-governmental Organisations (NGOs) in Disaster Relief* committed to "strive to achieve full community participation in our relief and rehabilitation programmes" (#7). The Humanitarian Charter in *The Sphere Handbook* emphasises that, "We offer our services in the belief that the affected population is at the centre of humanitarian action, and recognise that their active participation is essential to providing assistance in ways that best meet their needs, including those of vulnerable and socially excluded people." The nine commitments of the *Core Humanitarian Standard* have communities and people affected by crisis at the centre. The right to development is enshrined in various human rights instruments. The recent OECD DAC Recommendation on the HDP nexus calls for mechanisms that put people at the centre of a nexus approach in an inclusive manner, as part of programming better within the nexus.

Any nexus approach must be built upon the perspectives, ideas, and views of people and communities who know their needs best. Their ability to make choices must be respected and promoted. While there are many policy documents and commitments that reflect this idea, the humanitarian, development, and peace systems are not necessarily designed with affected people at the centre.

BARRIERS: Donor funding preferences are often based on priority thematic areas and geographical contexts that donors wish to fund. These preferences are then imposed on those applying for the funds. In addition, organisational structures do not always allow for a people-centred approach to be effectively put into place – especially when there is a need to raise funds for operational activities.

The project and logframe approaches imposed by many donors and organisations generally do not allow the flexibility required to respond to the needs of people or to emergencies that may occur during the course of a project. While feedback from a community may indicate that certain changes need to be made during a programme, frequently, the systems to rapidly make those changes are not in place – either internally within an organisation or with a donor.

Within organisations, systems tend to encourage people to rush into emergency responses without necessarily involving affected communities at first. This approach needs to be changed to strengthen systems that ensure affected communities and people are involved from the beginning.

ENABLERS: There needs to be a shift in the focus and design of programmes to enable nexus thinking and approaches. Working on certain cross-cutting themes, like gender-based violence (GBV) or protection, can make it easier to shift from a humanitarian to a development response and vice versa. Using a rights-based approach can also be effective at putting people at the centre. 'Village Savings and Loan Associations' (VLSAs), which integrate social cohesion while addressing both short-and long-term community needs, are showing success from the experience of CARE International in various countries. CARE International has also found that creating community-led hubs that promote socio-economic development while responding to urgent needs, integrating women's rights in refugee support programmes, and stimulating markets through innovative cash and voucher services all provide opportunities for the nexus approach to be successful.

Longer-term outcomes and theories of change (versus logframes built around indicators and outputs) are better suited to people-centred nexus programming. Lighter systems are required to adapt programmes according to the changing needs of people and communities. In the Durable Peace Programme in Myanmar (see <u>Case Study in section 5</u> below), the partners of the programme use theories of change and 'outcome areas' as they work to ensure that the needs of affected people are met.

CASE STUDY: PLAN INTERNATIONAL'S REGIONAL LAKE CHAD PROGRAMME (LCP)



Adolescent girls in Nigeria. © Plan International / Will Ayemoba

Given the protracted nature of the crisis in the Lake Chad region, Plan International (PI) developed a regional Lake Chad Programme Strategy (2018-2023) that outlines the organisation's ambition to transform the life of girls and their families in the Lake Chad Region. The Strategy moves beyond a humanitarian vision towards a full spectrum programme, working at the nexus of humanitarian and development efforts to promote children's rights and gender equality.

The approach recognises the importance of meeting immediate humanitarian needs while tackling simultaneously the developmental deficit of the region, which is both a contributor to – and an outcome of – the crisis. Promoting social cohesion, girls' rights, and gender equality are at the heart of this strategy. Building the resilience of girls and their communities is vital to ensuring that they are able to cope with, and adapt to, the significant shocks and stresses they face now and potentially in the future.

Building on on-going work at the community level, the starting point for the strategy was a joint context analysis between PI's humanitarian and development teams in the region. In addition to identifying humanitarian needs, the analysis allowed the identification of the root causes and structural drivers of the crisis that could be addressed through PI's work. This analysis resulted in the formulation of collective outcomes and incorporating the functional areas of humanitarian, development, and social cohesion actions (to enhance peace and stability at the community level).

FUNDING: More than 24 international donors (ECHO, DEVCO, the German Federal Foreign office, the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (Sida), Irish Aid, the United Kingdom's Department for International Development (DFID), etc.) have contributed to financing the LCP approach and are increasingly willing to improve the flexibility of their funding instruments to support the implementation of the LCP. Involving donors during the development of the strategy was essential. Many donors liked the idea, but could not put funding towards the collective outcomes, given that their funding was either humanitarian or development funding. To resolve this challenge, specific targets were included for each of the functional areas (humanitarian, development, and social cohesion) to facilitate different types of funding.

ENABLERS: A separate coordinating programme team leading on the collective planning and programme development has been instrumental. Flexibility has been needed in programming to adapt intervention approaches and to slow down programme implementation when necessary. Strong risk management capacity, functioning monitoring and evaluation (M&E) and feedback mechanisms, and conflict sensitivity have also been essential in building the LCP.

2. NO COMMON NEXUS DEFINITION

There is no common definition of the nexus in relation to the humanitarian-development nexus or the 'triple nexus' of humanitarian-development-peace. Trying to agree a definition of the nexus would not necessarily be a fruitful exercise, however, greater clarity could be helpful in moving ahead. As one interviewee noted, "The nexus is not meant to be a widening of [the work of] all actors, but more coordination: development actors should be coming in and filling gaps." This approach could, in theory, also free up some humanitarian resources to focus even more on the most critical needs, knowing that other needs are being addressed by other actors.

BARRIERS: Without a clear understanding of what the nexus entails, there is a risk that good programmes may be labelled as nexus programmes to attract donor attention and funds. The OECD DAC Recommendation adopted in 2019 defined the nexus approach as, "...the aim of strengthening collaboration, coherence and complementarity. The approach seeks to capitalise on the comparative advantages of each pillar [humanitarian, development and peace actions] – to the extent of their relevance in the specific context – in order to reduce overall vulnerability and the number of unmet needs, strengthen risk management capacities and address root causes of conflict."¹⁷ While there will be concerns from an NGO perspective about the "coherence" component of that definition, there could be value in building upon the definition and ensuring that humanitarian principles are respected in any nexus approach.

As found in the Plan International case study on the Lake Chad Programme, the concept of the triple nexus remains unclear to many in the humanitarian and development sectors. There was a perception that there was little difference with their former LRRD approach, which can risk hindering the application of the nexus approach they were trying to implement. Beyond the case study, there is sometimes also a broad perception that the nexus is mainly a humanitarian-driven agenda because it is often referred to as an approach for protracted "crises" that came out of the WHS. However, most recently, at the EU level the perception appears to be shifting towards the nexus actually being part of a political agenda for implementing the EU Integrated Approach. This shift is of increasing concern to many humanitarian actors. The various interpretations of the nexus were identified as an obstacle blocking people from focusing on the key concepts and ideas behind the nexus approach.

ENABLERS: Without a clearer understanding of what the nexus entails and what the aim of nexus is, the quality of a nexus programme will remain quite subjective. Mosel and Levine (2014) proposed elements for evaluating LRRD programmes noting that, "'LRRD-ness' should not be the 'quality' of a project, but rather a way of approaching a situation" (p. 16). Similarly, evaluating a nexus programme could be focused on the approach or theories of change of the programme. Putting in place the systems to agree what a nexus approach entails and then evaluating it based on that could help determine the extent of successful nexus programming.

¹⁷ OECD DAC, 2019, p. 6.

CASE STUDY: DEVELOPING NEXUS GUIDING PRINCIPLES AND A TOOLKIT, WEWORLD-GVC FOUNDATION



A Palestinian farmer poses with a plant in a newly established nursery in Jordan Valley. © WeWorld-GVC / Fadi Arouri

WeWorld-GVC Foundation has significant experience of implementing a Community Protection Approach (CPA) as part of the Integrated Protection Programming of the West Bank Protection Consortium (WBPC) in the occupied Palestinian territories (oPt). The WBPC brings together WeWorld-GVC, the Norwegian Refugee Council, Action Against Hunger, Première Urgence Internationale, and ACTED.

WeWorld-GVC has been designing humanitarian and development projects in complementarity with other consortium partners to contribute to a protective environment for local communities. Building on the lessons collected through their CPA experience, WeWorld-GVC has committed to the elaboration of a set of Nexus Guiding Principles to operationalise the nexus framework. It will translate the main propositions of the nexus into practical guidelines to enable the inclusion of the nexus rationale in the planning of projects and interventions in the field.

WeWorld-GVC is also planning on drafting a comprehensive Nexus Toolkit, in partnership with the Italian Agency for Development Cooperation (AICS) in Jerusalem, to guide the actions of local and international actors and to inform the policy of international donors when intervening in protracted crises. The toolkit will offer a contribution to the operationalisation and mainstreaming of the nexus through guiding principles, best practices, and standard operating procedures (SOPs) building on the 2017 elaboration of their programmatic approach to LRRD in West Bank Area C.

3. COLLECTIVE OUTCOMES ARE STILL NOT COLLECTIVELY WELCOMED

There is considerable consternation not only among NGOs, but also among UN agencies and others about the focus and approach of "collective outcomes" within the New Way of Working. While the EU has not been focusing on collective outcomes *per se*, there have been EU nexus pilot countries where there has been an attempt to work towards collective outcomes where they exist. Individual EU Member States have also been supporting collective outcomes in different places. The EU's approach towards the nexus has been around working towards common understandings, shared analysis, and (where possible) roadmaps that focus on the complementarity of the added-value of different actors.

BARRIERS: The lack of clear guidance around how to develop collective outcomes or what should be included in collective outcomes was cited as a significant gap in a study commissioned by the Inter-Agency Standing Committee Task Team (IASC TT) on the Humanitarian-Development Nexus (IRMA, LLC, 2018). Having a joint analysis of a situation is generally quite widely accepted, as long as everyone's analysis does not have to be the same (see *further below <u>Nexus Coordination is Needed</u>*). After all, different actors will have different analyses of a situation based on their roles and mandates, ways of working, and approaches.

Without understanding the context and having a conflict analysis, humanitarian, development, and peace responses risk being inadequate. While some collective outcomes may be respectful of the complementarity of different mandates and approaches of humanitarian, development, and peace actors, other attempts have tried to subsume humanitarian responses under broader political and security agendas. For example, in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), during the discussions around collective outcomes, it was proposed that the UN Stabilisation Mission in DRC, MONUSCO, could negotiate access for humanitarian actors instead of simply having better civilmilitary coordination. This confusion of different roles has caused some NGOs to view the nexus approach in DRC as having negative consequences on humanitarian responses. Similarly, NGOs working in North-east Nigeria have expressed concerns about the difficulty to ensure principled humanitarian assistance, let alone come to agreement on a collective outcome, in a context where the State is a party to the conflict, imposes access restrictions, and denies the existence of many of the humanitarian needs.

ENABLERS: Further work to ensure clarity around how collective outcomes are defined and who needs to be involved in the definition could potentially be beneficial to ensure that humanitarian principles are not compromised. The IASC TT drafted guidance in 2018, but it has not yet been shared widely. All actors should be clear that collective outcomes are not the objective of a nexus approach. In some contexts, they may be appropriate and useful; in others there may be more practical ways to ensure the complementarity of different actions. Collective outcomes when used as an organisational strategy, as was done by Plan International in its Lake Chad Programme, can be useful to work across different departments within an organisation, but are substantially different than those sought by the UN at country level.

4. A LACK OF CONSENSUS AROUND THE TRIPLE NEXUS

While the UN has been explicitly bringing together humanitarian, development, and peace since the WHS, the EU seems now to be moving in that direction with increasing references to the triple nexus. From many humanitarian actors' perspectives, there remain serious concerns about this shift towards the triple nexus. As Hugo Slim noted, "The nexus looks like a triangle of everything – especially if we recognise that climate risk and adaptation are in there as part of the Sustainable Development Goals. This triple nexus clearly goes beyond the aspirations of the Red Cross/Crescent and NGO Code of Conduct. The Code emphasises capacity-building, inclusion, resilience, developmental improvements and environmental sustainability but it does not set its sights on peace."¹⁸

BARRIERS: The first focus of NGOs, EU, and global efforts over the past two decades has been to better link humanitarian and development efforts. Yet, after all this time, the same barriers to achieving this linkage still exist, showing that while the need may be evident, finding solutions and putting them into practice is challenging. The EU's pilots also followed this prioritisation of a humanitarian-development nexus, despite divergent views among Member States. The third part of the triple nexus is, in principle, not something most humanitarian actors were looking for or have embraced, but seems to have come more from donor countries or institutions in a **top-down** way.

In addition, the **scope and meaning** of the triple nexus are not agreed. The lack of clarity on the peace part is a barrier to many organisations having more robust advocacy around the parts of the nexus about which they are more enthusiastic. Most humanitarians would want there to be a bottom-up definition of the peace part of the nexus.

The nexus approach must be tailored to each **context**: there is no "one size fits all" nexus approach. The peace element of the nexus is also different in every context. From the perspective of humanitarian NGOs, there are cases where the triple nexus approach is leading to an instrumentalisation of humanitarian aid for political purposes. If there is an insistence on supporting peace processes or stabilisation in a conflict setting, there is the very real risk that principled humanitarian action cannot be effective – and that humanitarian actors will be denied access or become targets. As one interviewee put it, "the art of the nexus is not to throw everything into one basket and stir it," but to have everyone work with their own principles and objectives.

¹⁸ Slim, 2017, p.2.

ENABLERS: There is a need to have more **structured conversations** among various actors about the potential positive aspects – but also the potential pitfalls – of the triple nexus in different contexts and at the global level. While many NGOs and CSOs, particularly local and national ones, will engage in different aspects of peace, and look at the conflict sensitivity of their actions and ensuring a 'do no harm' approach, the State approach to peace will often be from a stabilisation or security perspective. At the same time, other NGOs will steer clear of the peace aspect of the nexus in certain contexts to ensure that they can deliver principled humanitarian action. In other contexts, they will find ways to work across the triple nexus.

As one interviewee noted, the goal of the nexus is not for NGOs to deliver on all aspects of the nexus. Humanitarian NGOs can, however, reflect on what others can do in the nexus and to share what they see as the risks and limits of a nexus approach on humanitarian response. After all, the idea is "not to have the nexus at any price."

In May 2019, the European Peacebuilding Liaison Office (EPLO) played a useful role in convening peace, development, and humanitarian actors for a dialogue on what the peace part of the nexus could mean at the EU level. VOICE took this discussion further by looking at the humanitarian role in conflict sensitivity at an event in May 2018 and at the role of the nexus in the Agenda 2030 ambition to "leave no one behind" at the European Development Days in June 2019. The latter showed there was still no clear consensus on the peace part of the nexus, so this discussion must continue.

CASE STUDY: MERCY CORPS – WORKING AT THE NEXUS OF HUMANITARIAN ACTION, PEACEBUILDING, AND DEVELOPMENT IN NORTHEAST NIGERIA



Jummai Abdullahi takes care of goats near her home in Biu, Nigeria, 2018. © Ezra Millstein/Mercy Corps

Mercy Corps began humanitarian programming in Northeast Nigeria in 2014, with peacebuilding programmes being phased in as early as 2016. Five different projects, funded by different donors, complement the on-going humanitarian programmes. Mercy Corps' research, funded by the Ford Foundation, examined why male and female youth join, or are forcibly recruited into, Boko Haram. Building on that research, a stability-focused programme was proposed to DFID. A co-creation process took several months to establish the project. It took several more months to secure funding once the pilot was completed, which led to a gap in funding. Different donors eventually funded the different complementary programmes.



The organisation's Advancing Peace in Complex Crises framework guides the programmes in Northeast Nigeria with its three pillars: (1) conflict sensitive humanitarian action; (2) violence reduction; and (3) development and peacebuilding. By emphasising community engagement, community resilience to conflict and shock is promoted. Having worked in other parts of Nigeria before the response in the Northeast meant that donors had a level of trust, which allowed Mercy Corps to propose innovative blended humanitarian and peacebuilding programming. Bringing in different technical experts to design fully integrated programmes was important. The activities covered by the pillars include social protection, livelihoods, especially for youth and cash grants, but also initiatives that counter extremist doctrine through radio programmes working with the leadership of different faith communities.

Some donors were convinced by the need for more integrated programming. However, others were not keen on funding non-humanitarian programmes when the Boko Haram crisis and resulting displacement were prominent in international media. Tensions between humanitarian and development actors (mostly about coordination and scarce resources) presented risks and challenges. Security concerns also meant that Mercy Corps staff had to keep a low profile to be able to work across the triple nexus.

5. DIFFERENT ACTORS, DIFFERENT METHODS

BARRIERS: Bringing together humanitarian and development – and even peace – actors to work on a nexus approach takes time and careful coordination. The same is true for donors, for example, ECHO and DEVCO or between the different sections of a (donor) government. The different mandates of actors mean that they work with varying approaches and partners in terms of the activities in which they will engage or fund and for how long that engagement and/or funding will last.

First and foremost is the necessity to overcome the "cultural" barriers between the different actors. They each come with their own ways of working. Even within the same organisation, there are often divisions between humanitarian and development departments. They have specific terminology, timeframes, and acronyms for their approaches. They will engage with affected people, (local) authorities, government, donors, and other actors in different ways. Their principles and approaches will often be unfamiliar to others. Humanitarians, for example, are less likely to work in partnership with government in order to act in line with the humanitarian principles while development actors are more likely to focus on strengthening the actions of local authorities and governments. Development actors may view humanitarians as moving too quickly. Humanitarians may see peace and development actors as moving too slowly. Many noted that there are not enough individuals who have worked across the different programme areas, especially in leadership or management positions.

Humanitarian principles and the legal basis for humanitarian response can be quite different to the 'principles' that are used for development (e.g. Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), human rights, or the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness principles). These different principles mean different approaches and understandings of what the best response might be in a given context and what success looks like. Without having an appreciation for these different ways of working, it will be difficult for the nexus approach to succeed.

ENABLERS: There is a need to find ways to bring humanitarian, development, and peace actors together within and across organisations. Allowing time for different actors to get to know and understand the different ways of working and approaches is necessary. Having staff who have worked across the different pillars is a further enabler as they can help 'translate' the ways of working for others. By better understanding what different actors are doing and why, a complementarity of roles can be fostered.

CASE STUDY: COMPLEMENTARITY IN THE DURABLE PEACE PROGRAMME (DPP), MYANMAR



IDPs in North Myanmar © Oxfam/ Dustin Barter

The DPP works across the triple nexus (humanitarian-development-peace) in Kachin and Shan States in Myanmar. Initiated in 2014 by the Joint Strategy Team (a group of local NGOs (LNGOs)), they subsequently asked international NGOs (INGOs) to join. The consortium, currently led by Oxfam, is diverse and the design and implementation of the programme is driven by 27 local organisations, ranging from small-scale community development associations to those with influence in the national peace process. They bring their diverse expertise together to enable the delivery of a range of activities across the 'triple nexus' of humanitarian, development, and peace spheres.

One of the ways in which the DPP has implemented a nexus approach has been by working across several outcome areas in conflict-affected communities, including: durable solutions to displacement; livelihoods and income generation for IDPs; peace and social cohesion; gender-based violence (GBV) prevention and gender equality; and capacity-building with local civil society. The DPP centres its programme decision-making on the preferences of displaced people, which helps to mitigate the risks associated with engaging with national peace processes, which are inherently political, but need to be balanced with humanitarian principles and development practices. The DPP has also benefitted from long-term funding, spanning 7 years, from the EU, which has enabled the deepening of trust between organisations involved in the consortium and with communities, more integrated programming and for all stakeholders to learn from previous efforts.

LESSONS ON RISK FROM THE GRAND BARGAIN ALSO APPLY TO THE NEXUS



As highlighted during the <u>VOICE workshop on the Grand</u> <u>Bargain and Risk</u> in London, UK in March 2019, the concept of risk is broad, complex, and often changing. It ranges from safety and security, to reputational risks and touches on issues of ethical, financial, and fiduciary risks. The risks each stakeholder faces can differ (including NGOs, donors, broader government structures, banks, etc.) making risks difficult to address. Furthermore, because it is an innovative process, the nexus approach inherently implies taking risks. The nexus approach suggests new ways of working potentially affecting humanitarian actors' capacities to remain principled and to be perceived as such. Risks linked to programming, funding, and partnerships may also be further exacerbated for all

actors involved. While the aid sector is under increased scrutiny, the demand for transparency, accountability, and counter-terrorism measures tends to increase and change donors' perceptions of risks and translates into a heavier administrative burden for implementing organisations. Against this observation, signatories to the Grand Bargain (GB) have raised this issue at the highest levels. Kristalina Georgieva, then Eminent person to the GB, tasked The Netherlands and the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) in September 2018 to follow up on a discussion on risk-sharing. In the 2019 independent report on the GB, the Overseas Development Institute (ODI) suggests that building on this initiative, "signatories should work together to understand the risks that different constituent groups face in taking actions or not taking actions towards their commitments, and how respective efforts to mitigate risks may impact – positively and negatively – on other constituent groups." This review should include commitments linked to the nexus (GB former workstream 10) and widen it to the triple nexus.

B: THE NEXUS FRAMEWORK NEEDS TO INVOLVE THE RIGHT PEOPLE

In order for the nexus to work optimally, the right policies and frameworks need to be in place, but the right people and actors also need to be brought into the earliest attempts to come to a common understanding of what is required in a crisis. In reality, this study found that often, the right mechanisms to bring people together are missing and they do not function in a sufficiently inclusive manner to truly capitalise on the added-value and role of each actor and their comparative advantages and expertise.

1. NEXUS COORDINATION IS NEEDED

BARRIERS: Different actors need to be brought together in order to understand what others are doing to ensure the complementarity required of the nexus approach. On the humanitarian side, the Humanitarian Country Team (HCT) brings together the UN and NGOs and the HCT often meets with donors. There is no similar coordination body for development or peace that brings a wide range of actors, including the government, together. This lack of coordination structures makes implementing the nexus approach more challenging.

Coordination is complex, even within organisations. The coordination among parts of the EU in the nexus pilot countries has taken considerable time and effort. While the initial coordination has been between ECHO and EU Delegations for the most part, it has meant that EU Member States have not necessarily been as involved. The inclusion of NGOs in the EU nexus pilot countries to date has been even more limited. There are concerns that if EU Member States and NGOs are not brought into the EU's efforts, especially in the pilot countries, that the interest to engage from those States risks being lost and the rich experience and broad expertise from actors on the ground, such as NGOs, being missed.

ENABLERS: The 2016 UN General Assembly Resolution A/RES/71/243, which reviews the UN system's operational activities for development, calls on national governments to consult "with relevant stakeholders, including civil society and non-governmental organisations" as part of the UN Development Assistance Framework (UNDAF) or similar planning framework (para. 48). It also calls on UN Resident Coordinators and UN Country Teams to consult with governments, civil society, and NGOs (para. 49).

This push for broader development coordination is a welcome step, but will require time, patience, ongoing dialogue, and a willingness to work at different paces to understand each other. It also requires a readiness on the part of governments to engage and involve NGOs in development planning and peace strategies, which is not always the case currently. It will require coordination that goes beyond simple information sharing and enables discussions around principled decisions.

There is a need to identify and open up coordination mechanisms to enable cross-fertilisation across the UN, donors, and NGOs and, where appropriate, government. Regular substantive engagement is needed to develop trust, meaningful partnerships, and more responsive ways to address challenges within the nexus approach. It is also important for donors covering humanitarian aid, development, and peace to coordinate their approaches if the nexus is to be successful.

Insisting on common analysis risks being a barrier to successful nexus programming. However joint – not common – analysis is also an essential part of the coordination needed for a nexus approach. Such joint analysis requires sharing information and respecting principles and the ways of working between humanitarian, development, and peace actors. It should also be a result of working with communities who can best identify capacities, vulnerabilities, threats, and coping strategies, as highlighted in the response of the West Bank Protection Consortium and flagged by VOICE member WeWorld-GVC in the case study (*above*). It does not mean that there will be a common analysis, given that different actors will have different perspectives.

CASE STUDY: ACTION AGAINST HUNGER: IMPLEMENTING A NEXUS APPROACH IN TIMBUKTU, MALI



Delivery of sanitation kits to women's organizations in Tombouctou. © Action Against Hunger

Action Against Hunger in Mali has been implementing two complementary projects: a development project (December 2015-September 2019), Integrated project to strengthen the resilience of rural communities in Kita and Timbuktu circles in Mali, and a humanitarian project (April 2018-March 2019), Integrated response to the humanitarian nutritional crises in Timbuktu and Taoudenit, North of Mali. The two projects were developed based on Action Against Hunger joint analysis and objectives.

The humanitarian project is the third phase of the emergency intervention funded by the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (Sida). It focuses on addressing undernutrition, including through the delivery of treatment against severe acute malnutrition of children under five. The development project adopts a complementary multi-sectoral approach (nutrition, food security, etc.) to improve vulnerable populations' resilience and improve the livelihoods of vulnerable populations.

The initiative for these complementary projects came from Sida, which wanted to experiment with this way of working. The development project is contracted locally with the Swedish Embassy in Mali, while the humanitarian project is part of the multi-year humanitarian agreement signed between Sida and Action Against Hunger.

Having complementary humanitarian and development projects does not, however, mean that the two teams necessarily worked easily together. In fact, setting up this dual approach required additional efforts, such as aligning objectives, making localised assessments of humanitarian and development needs, and coordinating two different and separate projects while ensuring that they remained complementary. The humanitarian project was elaborated after the development project started, thus hindering coordination between the two. There was also no formal coordination or consultation between the two projects. In terms of efficiency of this dual approach, project teams support each other in implementing certain activities, such as mass sensitisations and information sharing, and the approach created continuity between humanitarian and development activities.

In the future, having only one multi-year project, with integrated development and emergency objectives and activities, would help to ensure that the project is easier to implement, more effective, and has more impact. A preliminary contextual analysis should assess the relevance of a nexus approach. Action Against Hunger Mali identified that it is important to establish formal coordination mechanisms between the different teams in the case of two distinct projects. It is also important to establish formal consultations and coordination frameworks with all relevant stakeholders.

CASE STUDY: FUTURE – EXPANDING EXISTING SOCIAL PROTECTION SYSTEMS TO MEET HUMANITARIAN NEEDS IN MALAWI



Children in a preschool in Zomba District © Jonathan Hyams / Save the Children

An on-going development programme in Malawi, called FUTURE (Food and NUTrition for REsilience) was funded by DEVCO and implemented by a consortium (United Purpose, Save the Children, and Concern Worldwide), in partnership with governmental stakeholders from November 2017 to November 2020. FUTURE delivers a comprehensive package of interventions designed to break the cycle of food and nutrition insecurity in Malawi. It improves the capacity of households to prepare for, withstand, and bounce back during and after shocks. It creates direct synergies with the government's National Social Support Programme (NSSP) and linkages with resilience-building approaches and actors. The FUTURE project provides social cash transfer top-ups through manual payments for households that are fully labour-constrained to enable them to be more resilient to food and climate change shocks.

The EC (ECHO) helped to initiate a programme (August 2018-January 2020), implemented by Save the Children in consortium with Oxfam and Goal, and in partnership with governmental stakeholders, to provide a vertical top-up during the lean season to 2,000 of the beneficiaries of the FUTURE programme, using an innovative e-payment system. The ECHO action, PREPARE (Social Protection and E-Payment for inclusive cash Response), was implemented within the FUTURE framework. The interventions targeted households with pregnant and lactating women and children under 5. It provides an added-value with technological solutions for enhanced delivery of social protection and resilience and reinforces national level learning on Shock Responsive Social Protection.

The complementarity of the DEVCO and ECHO programmes with a vertical top-up mechanism ensured greater resilience of the target population to shocks. Advocacy for cash preparedness for humanitarian response among multiple stakeholders, including the private sector, ensured that system challenges to operational efficiency and the scale-up of cash transfer programmes were addressed. By focusing on strengthening the capacity of the existing social assistance programme, the humanitarian caseload was addressed through the expansion of the on-going programme.

Instead of setting up separate, ad hoc humanitarian responses to address people's chronic vulnerability, the national social protection system is invested in shock responsiveness to expand to meet the emergency needs of the population, as well as build long-term resilience. By having accurate data about the humanitarian needs and a system capable of expanding, the existing system is able to cover humanitarian needs.

2. NGOs NEED TO BE MORE CONSISTENTLY ENGAGED IN NEXUS DISCUSSIONS

NGOs bring a wealth of experience of programming across the nexus. They work with communities and individuals affected by crises. That proximity to affected populations, combined with the diversity and expertise of NGOs working across different sectors, enables them to bring learning and lessons around the nexus. They are often in a good position to help identify gaps between different forms of aid and are familiar with donors' rules and administrative barriers to do better nexus programming.

BARRIERS: To date, NGOs have not been adequately involved in the EU nexus pilots or in the UN's New Way of Working. It will take time to bring in all relevant stakeholders into nexus discussions and to build trust between those partners. As one (non-NGO) interviewee noted, the longer the EU goes without involving partners, the greater the lack of a relationship. With the EU with its Member States as the biggest donor, however, partners must work with the EU. There needs to be a greater level of dialogue around the nexus before it is too late to ensure greater and sustainable engagement and implementation – not only with NGOs, but also EU Member States and the UN.

ENABLERS: Consultations with NGOs should be an on-going process and should include civil society organisations (CSO) at national and local levels. Building trust between partners engaged in the nexus approach – CSOs/LNGOs/NNGOs/INGOs/UN/donors/government – takes time and effort, but when trust is built, it can be an enabling factor that allows programming to be more adaptive and flexible. The fact that those implementing have not been consistently consulted to date in the EU pilots, "makes no sense: how can you have a coherent approach without them?" asked one interviewee. The EU still has an opportunity to involve other partners to ensure that the nexus approach can build on the different strengths of different actors.

3. LOCAL ACTORS MUST BE MEANINGFULLY ENGAGED

For the nexus to be successful, in addition to putting crisis-affected people at the centre, it must also meaningfully engage local and national actors from the beginning. Which local and national actors need to be engaged will depend on the context and the specificity of the programme, but can include local authorities, businesses, influential community actors, and informal, as well as formally established, community groups, NGOs, and others.

When local and national NGOs design programmes, as was the case with the Durable Peace Programme in Myanmar, there is often greater ownership. They are potentially more sustainable and responsive to the needs of affected people, given their roots in the communities. **BARRIERS:** While some progress has been made, more support and funding for local and national actors is still not being consistently put into practice, despite commitments made at the World Humanitarian Summit and in the Grand Bargain. The Grand Bargain committed to increasing funding and multi-year support for the institutional capacities of local and national responders. In a nexus context, providing such support can ensure that local and national actors are able to respond more quickly when crises strike. At the same time, donors are becoming more risk averse. Even when a certain degree of risk is accepted, for instance, to allow specific operating rules for specific contexts, these risks are usually transferred from the donor to the NGOs. Specific financial and eligibility rules make it difficult to finance local NGOs directly or local NGOs do not have the systems in place to comply with all the different rules required by the donors. This risk aversion can have negative implications on the likelihood of national/local actors being more consistently supported.

ENABLERS: Building on the leadership of local actors can result in programmes that are better designed for what affected people want/need, while respecting humanitarian principles and different actors' ways of working. More advocacy to increase support to local actors can help boost the commitment to localisation from the Grand Bargain and the World Humanitarian Summit) by donors and other international actors. The issue of risk transfer and risk management is an important one for the sector and particularly for INGOs and NNGOs. The recent report from InterAction and Humanitarian Outcomes, NGOs & Risk: managing uncertainty in local-international partnerships, underlines that, "The collision between the increased needs (and stated will) for partnering and the growing risk aversion in the sector has distorted national-international partnership dynamics, resulting in greater risks, hindrances and inefficiencies for humanitarian response." (p.4) Ways to ensure that risks are shared - and not simply transferred to NGOs - will be essential so that local/national organisations can be better supported. The InterAction/Humanitarian Outcomes study recommends, among others, a systematic introduction of force majeure clauses in contracts and ensuring that those clauses are equally present in sub-granting agreements. The principle of agreeing to local and national organisations' active participation in the nexus needs to be followed with concrete support measures, such as ensuring that information is accessible to them in an appropriate language or covering travel to meetings where key decisions are likely to be made. Ultimately, longer-term financing instruments should be available to strengthen and sustain the organisational capacity of local and national NGOs, if localisation efforts are to be truly supported.

CASE STUDY: ADRA AND THE RISE NETWORK: EDUCATION IN MYANMAR



Wan mike Kin Kaw village classes. © ADRA

ADRA Germany, ADRA UK, and ADRA Myanmar – in partnership with a range of local organisations that are part of the Rural Indigenous Sustainable Education Network (RISE)¹⁹ – implemented two education projects from May 2016 to May 2019. The first project – Conflict Areas Support for Education (CASE) – ran from May 2016 to April 2018 and was supported by ECHO Children of Peace funding (EU Nobel prize for support to education in conflict areas) to target "conflict-affected communities." The second project – CASE+ – ran from July 2018 to May 2019 with development funds from the EU Delegation and expanded the focus to support ethnic minorities not directly affected by conflict.

ADRA's partnerships with local organisations, the relevance to the current education reform and peace process, and the strong vision of the local organisations for education in conflict and post-conflict areas of the country, all contributed to the funding being received. As donors began to shift more funding to government areas and more accessible areas for aid and development, the funding received was able to address gaps between humanitarian and development funding and the declining funding to Ethnic States and Regions in Myanmar.

¹⁹ The RISE Network includes the following local organisations: Karen Teachers Working Group (KTWG), Ta'ang Student and Youth Union (TSYU), Lahu Development Network (LDN), Shanan Education Networking Group (SENG), Rural Development Foundation of Shan State (RDFSS), Pa'oh Health Working Committee (PHWC), Karenni Education Department (KnED), Eastern Naga Development Organization (ENDO), Chin Education Network (CEN), Zomi Development Foundation (ZDF), and Karen Women's Organization (KWO).

The programme focuses on the HDP nexus for education and targets conflict-affected/minority population groups. The humanitarian sector, until 2018, had targeted IDPs and development funding tended to fund the more accessible, non-conflict-affected townships. The programme engages Indigenous Providers of Education throughout the country through the RISE network to support education service provision. The programme promotes cohesion; facilitates harmonisation to sustain education services; and reaches out-of-school children. It also promotes meaningful dialogue on education reform issues with the Myanmar Ministry of Education to work towards a coherent and inclusive national education system that ensures Indigenous children's rights to a relevant quality education are upheld.

Initiating the programme with support from ECHO was useful as the humanitarian programmes intrinsically have more flexibility to adapt to the complex environment and allowed for the piloting of approaches, particularly in terms of reaching out-of-school children. Transitioning to EU development funding enabled the inclusion of longer-term developmental approaches and increased engagement with other education actors in the country.

Working with multiple stakeholders has its own challenges, for example, in trying to achieve a balance around ownership of the programme. There was also a tension in finding the right balance between bottom-up planning/implementation and maintaining coherence/strategic alignment. While a centralised approach enables better quality control and harmonisation, de-centralisation enables greater empowerment and ownership by the local RISE network partners.

A localisation approach enabled greater teacher retention and resilience in education programmes in conflict areas. The commitment of resources into these types of programmes generated interest from additional stakeholders and put pressure on other humanitarian and development programmes in the area to be more inclusive of local actors.

C. TRANSLATING THE FRAMEWORK INTO APPROPRIATE TOOLS

The systems, policies, and frameworks need to be in place, with the right actors engaged, but it is equally important to ensure that the necessary tools are in place to allow implementation to move ahead smoothly. There currently remain several barriers that need to be addressed to enable more effective nexus approaches: from the timespan of funding, to the rules and regulations for implementation of funds, to the roles given to key staff to interpret and innovate how to spend the funds.

1. MORE FLEXIBLE, MULTI-YEAR FINANCING IS REQUIRED FOR THE NEXUS

BARRIERS: A persistent challenge from previous nexus-like attempts to better link humanitarian aid and development is around financing mechanisms and systems. While some donors have adapted their financing to allow more flexible and multi-year financing, there are several donors – including UN agencies – that still have quite restrictive financing models. More flexibility is also needed in the EU financing mechanisms and some proposals to create more flexible development financing are on the table. As VOICE noted in a July 2018 report,

NGOs have seen opportunities lost due to a lack of suitable and flexible financial instruments – the next MFF provides an opportunity to address this. More multi-year planning and funding in EU humanitarian activities, and the systematic introduction of crisis modifiers in EU development activities are concrete elements that the EU can introduce to enable its partners to effectively contribute to the nexus implementation.²⁰

Some have cited the EU's Madad Fund as an example of a flexible financing mechanism. There are others who have concerns that the EU Trust Funds may not consistently enable adequate respect for humanitarian or development principles, given that there is a perception that the underlying motives for their creation are the EU's political and security interests.

Humanitarian funding timelines are generally quite short and should be longer in protracted crises. ECHO is a signatory of the Grand Bargain and is making efforts, in particular, to move towards multiyear programming in certain regions or via piloting exercises. Multi-year funding is currently very difficult under EU financial rules: ECHO contracts barely exceed 18 months.

²⁰ Statement on the next Multiannual Financial Framework, VOICE, July 2018, p.3.

The EU, for example, currently does not have a financial mechanism to operate in the gap between DEVCO grants and ECHO operations. Participants in the Myanmar workshop suggested that more flexible or transitional aid mechanisms could potentially help fill that gap. The current draft proposal for a new development funding instrument – the Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument (NDICI) – creates a mechanism for rapid response funds for LRRD/resilience measures, with a longer time-frame than humanitarian funding, but which is shorter than programmed development funding. If adopted, it should come into force in 2021. The funding instrument is, however, small and without adequate involvement of all the relevant EU services, including ECHO, risks becoming an opportunity lost to really implement a humanitarian-development nexus approach. Advocating with DEVCO and ECHO headquarters for more flexibility for field level interpretation of the financing instruments, as suggested in the Myanmar workshop, could potentially help remove some of the barriers to financing nexus programmes. NGOs should also explore the options for ensuring the eligibility of DEVCO funding in complex protracted crisis situations, for example, by seeking the necessary exemptions. NGOs are supporting ECHO in making the case for more multi-year funding in humanitarian action to remove this EU financial limitation.

ENABLERS: Flexible, adaptive, multi-year programming and funding based on what affected people and communities suggest or with which they are actively involved, enables better nexus programmes. The inclusion of crisis modifiers can enable a shift from development to humanitarian programming as the context changes. An emergency or contingency budget line can help secure development gains by quickly addressing a new humanitarian crisis. Top-up mechanisms for existing grants can be used to address humanitarian needs when they arise, as is seen in the case study from Malawi (see <u>above</u>). Flexibility to shift sub-grants from one recipient to another and flexible financial limits are useful to enable more creative and responsive programming.

Donors enable nexus programming when they respond in a timely and positive way to proposed modifications in activities, which are driven by changes in the context or based on what affected populations see as necessary. For example, if the situation changes and an organisation requests changes to its DEVCO funded programme, ECHO could help assess the changes necessary.

Increased and timely use of crisis modifiers and other elements supporting programming flexibility to frontline responders is needed. It would also be an important concrete element translating the NGO demand for risk sharing and strengthened trust. Given that predictability, timeliness, and flexibility are already meant to be supported through the EU's Framework Partnership Agreement with its humanitarian partners, it should be feasible to implement such changes.

CASE STUDY: CARE JORDAN: A UNIFIED, HOLISTIC RESPONSE



Syrian refugee family in Jordan. © Josh Estey / CARE

Instead of having separate humanitarian and development programmes, CARE Jordan merged its activities into one holistic programme in 2014. This approach transcends sector-thinking and allows for cross-fertilisation between humanitarian and development approaches to identify the most appropriate response to the needs and vulnerabilities of affected individuals and families, irrespective of their nationality.

CARE's response model uses a combination of social work tools, including vulnerability assessment; information provision; referrals; and case management. These are combined with emergency cash assistance (complementary to UNHCR's monthly cash assistance); livelihood support (e.g. vocational training); psychosocial support activities; and other services designed based on the continuous analysis of evolving needs. The design of the approach is complementary with inter-governmental and UN support to the Government of Jordan, which has focused on expanding the capacities of public services, and with the efforts of INGOs to temporarily fill sector-specific service gaps. CARE's programmes are also gender transformative, rather than simply gender-sensitive.

Given that not all donors have the organisational or policy set-up to provide flexible, longer-term funding, CARE Jordan's project development teams strive to include development components into humanitarian funding proposals and vice versa, when possible. This approach allows CARE to shift resources between humanitarian and development components during the implementation period – following approval by donors – and facilitates coordination between CARE's humanitarian and development teams, given that they operate under the same funding contracts. As a result, they interact on a regular basis at the management and operational levels, mitigating the risk of overlapping activities or duplicating efforts.

Where strictly necessary, CARE also maintains a separation of humanitarian response and development activities, including by firewalling operations between Jordan and Syria. This approach ensures that CARE remains capable of addressing risks and responding to emergencies if, and when, they occur. With updated emergency preparedness planning, CARE ensures the training and capacity-building of staff for emergency response.

Among the lessons learned from CARE Jordan's approach is the need for more advocacy for flexible, long(er)-term funding and a mixed funding portfolio. CARE Jordan's current approach has two- to three-year humanitarian and development funding thanks to the integration of relief components in funding proposals for sustainable development and vice versa.

2. SIMPLIFIED AND HARMONISED CONTRACTUAL FRAMEWORKS: AN ESSENTIAL STEP TO A NEXUS APPROACH

BARRIERS: Different financial instruments and financial oversights contribute to the divide between humanitarian and development responses. Barriers related to financial systems range from 'simple' things – like different exchange rates and procurement rules between ECHO and DEVCO – to more 'complex' issues like different reporting requirements between donors. The impact of working with different sets of rules and requirements should not be underestimated. NGOs working with multiple donors are constantly juggling different donors' requirements, including for visibility, which are sometimes neither respectful nor empowering for crisis-affected people. NGOs report that the number of dedicated staff for compliance, internal control, and audit management is growing faster than for operational staff and dedicated trainings need to be organised regularly for all staff to maintain knowledge, given staff turnover and to adapt to any revision of the rules.

Humanitarian and development funding modalities often present different sets of rules, as well as different timeframes and reporting requirements. Templates to submit concept notes and proposals, as well as those used for reporting purposes (interim and final), are quite different and donors have very varying expectations in terms of frequency of reporting.

At the EU level, eligibility criteria to access EU funding for humanitarian aid and for development assistance are not the same and the whole set of rules and compliance requirements tends to be particularly substantial and not necessarily aligned. However, while the rules should be simplified, and the existing possibilities within the broader EU financial rules should be used to harmonise them as much as possible, ultimately, they do serve different purposes. As such, any changes should not be done at the expense of either Good Humanitarian Donorship or the development effectiveness principles.

As a consequence, translating a nexus approach into the daily work of NGOs with the EU is difficult. It is hard to seek synergies between funding for humanitarian and development programmes in the same areas. In the case of protracted crises, when NGOs seek co-funding arrangements between humanitarian and development donors, ensuring compliance with both sources of funding is often done by using the strictest rules and thereby losing much of the flexibility margins existing in each of the funding streams. Dealing with the complexity of donor requirements – and the risks inherent in those relationships – is a significant barrier to NGOs and their potential role in a nexus approach.

ENABLERS: There is also a need to simplify contractual frameworks. As mentioned above, 'simple' steps could be taken, such as allowing the same exchange rates between ECHO and DEVCO contracts. More 'complex' steps could include allowing for common audits for ECHO and DEVCO projects.

The proposal process for EU funds could also be simplified and streamlined. While a Grand Bargain workstream is testing harmonised reporting templates, EU and ECHO reporting templates could be streamlined and harmonised where possible to avoid double reporting on nexus programmes.

The <u>Less Paper More Aid</u> campaign, led by the International Council of Voluntary Agencies (ICVA) with the support of VOICE and a number of NGOs, identified a useful number of enabling factors for (local and international) NGOs to reduce the administrative burden for programme implementation. It

includes cross reliance on assessments and audits; harmonisation of narrative and financial reporting requirements and templates; alignment of reporting periods and deadlines to avoid re-collection of funds; and multiple data analysis.

The VOICE comparative <u>study on EU donors' conditionalities</u> (2015) when granting funding to NGOs highlights the differences in donors' requirements from exchange rates to visibility demands. It concludes that at the EU level, a simplification and harmonisation of rules could lead to substantial efficiency gains and is a pre-requisite for the localisation agenda.

In order to generate inclusiveness and increase the capacity of the sector to meet the growing needs, NGOs urge donors to simplify their administrative requirements (p. 26).

As noted above, the role of NNGOs in the nexus is key to a successful nexus approach and requires their access to financing instruments. Just as the simplification and harmonisation of donors' funding conditions are paramount to reducing the financial risk that NGOs take when engaging with institutional donors, these changes are also pre-requisites for localisation.

3. HUMAN RESOURCES PLAY A KEY ROLE IN SUCCESSFUL NEXUS PROGRAMMING

BARRIER: Institutional structures and ways of working can be barriers to the nexus approach, particularly if individuals do not take the time to look for solutions to get around those structures and ways of working. Organisational imperatives (e.g. staffing, presence, relationships, competition) can often trump engagement based on principles, but individuals can work to change the focus of institutions.

As observed in some of the case studies, the divide between the humanitarian and the development domains is often engrained in the organisational structures of key actors. Staff sometimes display a certain suspicion around the motives and approaches of the other functional area or label the (triple) nexus as just another buzz-term that will pass and thus undermine its potential positive impact for affected people.

ENABLERS: Flexibility and creativity at an institutional and individual level, combined with political/ personal will or engagement, can play an important role in creative approaches to programming and funding. Ensuring that such 'soft skills' are part of human resources' systems is key. Identifying the right soft skills to implement the nexus will be important for moving ahead. Finding ways to institutionalise cooperative ways of working across departments that have been successful in the pilots, like through standard operating procedures (SOPs), could also help make individual commitments more sustainable.

For example, having a UN Resident/Humanitarian Coordinator who understands the importance of principled humanitarian response will help ensure that any discussions around collective outcomes respect humanitarian principles. In the case of Action Against Hunger's projects in Mali, having a supportive donor in Sida enabled blending the humanitarian and development projects into a nexus approach. Several case studies flagged ECHO proposed projects that were complementary to on-going DEVCO programmes.

CASE STUDY: NRC SOMALIA: A COMBINATION OF A CRISIS MODIFIER AND ADAPTIVE PROGRAMMING



How Women Entrepreneurs are building resilience. © NRC

The main objective of the Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC) Somalia's programme was to support vulnerable displacement-affected populations with emergency support, including durable solutions. All programmes were area-based and integrated with five of NRC's core sector responses. They were implemented concurrently with the same population groups, with protection mainstreamed across all areas. The programme ran from 2017-2018 and received funding from DFID, DEVCO, and ECHO. The primary project was a multi-year development project to which top-ups were added to allow modifications because of emerging needs. Crisis modifiers allowed for the adaptation of the programme to respond to emerging urgent needs. Funds were shifted away from infrastructure works to meet urgent food needs through cash distributions.

Staff understanding of when – and how – to propose changes, as well as staff having a good understanding of the context, were key in making the programme successful. The ability to accommodate both humanitarian and development work within the same population depended on good assessments and flexibility in programme design, as well as good relationships and partnerships. The flexibility and speed with which staff made modifications to the programmes – and the quick response by donors when changes were requested – were key enablers. Logistics and procurement systems needed to be sensitive to the programmatic adaptations to ensure timely adjustments. Staff capacity to understand both humanitarian and development work was essential for the success of this type of nexus programming.

CONCLUSIONS

REALISTIC EXPECTATIONS ARE REQUIRED FOR SUCCESS

The time may finally be right for the nexus to be put into practice, given the confluence of various events – although it is not the first time that the right elements seemed to be aligned. If all the essential components are in place to make the necessary changes to enable the nexus approach, there could be enormous gains for those individuals and communities affected by conflicts or disasters. Care must be taken, however, to ensure that the ultimate nexus formula is implemented in a manner that does not compromise humanitarian principles. The nexus must not make humanitarian action subservient to broader development or peace goals, which are focused primarily on States and not necessarily on people or communities. The nexus is about reinforcing each approach's added-value and complementarity: not integrating them. The nexus is not for everyone in every context. After all, the humanitarian-development(-peace) nexus cannot exist without principled humanitarian action and International Humanitarian Law.

From an NGO perspective, there are numerous opportunities and ways to link humanitarian and development responses better. However, linking with the peace aspect requires more caution. Despite often having the right programmatic knowledge and mind-set, NGOs continue to stumble over the insufficient flexibility and/or complexity of donors' administrative conditions and financial instruments. Individuals within institutions can work as champions to find creative ways around the various barriers. They can suggest ways to make the changes necessary to put the systems and frameworks in place to make the nexus approach work while respecting principled humanitarian action.

The nexus approach highlights many of the challenges that are endemic to the humanitarian and development systems. The different languages and principles that various actors follow can make it hard to transition from humanitarian response to development or peace responses. Institutional barriers and financing mechanisms have long been identified as challenges to be addressed. For the nexus to really be put into practice, the existing systems need to adapt and be flexible to truly respond to the needs of crisis-affected people who should be at the centre of responses.

It should be noted that while there is a great deal of attention around the nexus approach, it should be tackled with a sense of realism. More pragmatic timelines and expectations are needed to avoid the nexus approach failing like so many previous LRRD efforts. Due to the global momentum, there is a chance that the nexus is more likely to succeed this time, but only if it is approached deliberately and systematically with the true intention of putting crisis-affected people and communities at the centre of responses and engaging meaningfully with various stakeholders, including NGOs. The changes required to ensure greater complementarity and coordination among actors and the shifts in programming and funding, etc. will take considerable time and effort. For example, nearly two years into the EU nexus pilots, there is still a long way to go to engage with Member States, NGOs, CSOs, and the UN. This engagement needs to be developed much further in order to get to a point of trust and understanding each other. These efforts will take longer and working on different nexus programming approaches will take even more time.

At the same time, some of the current trends must be taken into account. In the context of restrictive measures and counter-terrorism efforts, administrative and financial obstacles are growing. Civil society space is shrinking. Navigating humanitarian assistance in this environment is becoming more complex and resource intensive, while exposing NGOs to considerable risks and increasingly limiting access to crisis-affected populations. Addressing these issues is, in many places, a pre-condition to addressing the barriers to a nexus approach. These issues need to be brought much higher up on the nexus agenda in order to first ensure principled humanitarian action and then to bring development (and peace) efforts and actors into responses much earlier.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. ENSURE A NEXUS APPROACH, IN LINE WITH HUMANITARIAN PRINCIPLES:

The EU and Member States (MS) humanitarian aid policies and tools must remain in line with the Lisbon Treaty, guided by the European Consensus on Humanitarian Aid, as reconfirmed in 2017, and humanitarian principles. The EU and MS should be very context specific when adopting a nexus approach.

- I. In the EU nexus country pilots or in specific contexts, the EU could jointly agree red lines in relation to humanitarian principles to clarify where or when a nexus approach is not suitable or no longer considered appropriate. Due consideration should be given to the potential impact of a nexus approach on maintaining access and humanitarian actors' perception and capacity to stay. From a humanitarian perspective, this agreement would also require transparency about the EU and Member States' political or security objectives in a region.
- II. The humanitarian, development, and political departments of EU delegations and Member States should standardise joint conflict analysis processes as a starting point for the nexus across all relevant crises – without delaying a prompt humanitarian response if required.
- III. When there is a collective EU engagement in a nexus approach in a crisis, the importance and complementarity of both the bottom-up and top-down approaches to crises needs to be valued and ensured.
- IV. Further dialogue is needed on the triple nexus in order to clarify the EU's understanding of peace in the context of the triple nexus and the EU's integrated approach.
- V. Maintain the EU's global leadership in life-saving and principled humanitarian aid to crisisaffected populations through its professional humanitarian partners. Principled humanitarian action remains an essential building block and foundation stone to any nexus approach.

2. BUILD ON NGOs' EXPERIENCES AND LEARN LESSONS:

NGOs have a wealth of technical and field experience in LRRD, DRR, resilience, and nexus programming to contribute and practical challenges to share. This experience is of added-value in developing a nexus approach. The EU Delegations in the six nexus pilot countries should include (national/international) NGOs, in addition to EU Member States, the UN, and government, where appropriate, in the further development of joint action plans and their implementation. There is also a need to take the time to learn from each other, including from on-going nexus programming: only then can crisis-affected communities be better supported.

- I. The EU and NGOs should consider organising joint NGO/EU workshops in the nexus pilot countries similar to the one held in Myanmar to learn from on-going NGO nexus programming and to develop joint ways forward.
- II. The relevant EU services and MS must prioritise and take the time to share learning with all relevant actors.
- III. The EU and MS must work together and involve all their partners, including NGOs, to identify and use the good practices developed in the six country pilots, before rushing to implement the nexus everywhere where the EU hopes to implement the EU's Integrated Approach.

3. ADAPT FINANCIAL FRAMEWORKS AND TOOLS TO A NEXUS APPROACH:

EU and MS bilateral and multilateral aid must take the SDG's commitment to 'leave no one behind' into account. The EU and MS should explore ways to adapt their financial frameworks and tools to enable programmes that consider outcomes and theories of change so as to better meet and adapt to the needs of crisis-affected people and communities.

- I. In most protracted crises and fragile situations, the EU's development interventions must start earlier and link up better to other EU engagements. The perceived gap between development and humanitarian aid can only be overcome if development responses come in earlier.
- II. In order to achieve the desired outcome(s) and as a reflection of the risks in any specific context, donors should adapt their expectations of results to the specific context, and explore different partnerships, especially with NGOs and local actors.

- III. EU and MS development assistance must be made more flexible to respond to emerging or deteriorating situations of crisis through the use of crisis modifiers, top-up mechanisms, and dedicated financing tools, such as Trust Funds, in order to support the best-placed partners to step up their engagement.
- IV. The proposed new European Development instrument (Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument – NDICI) is an important opportunity to adapt the EU's tools for a nexus approach. The corresponding allocation for 'resilience of states, communities and individuals and LRRD' in the rapid response pillar is crucial, but also small. To ensure it functions in the best way possible for the nexus, it must include humanitarian expertise in all decision-making around its use. As a complement, the NDICI should foster a development culture with more flexibility to respond to operational needs, which anchors resilience programming and DRR across its geographic programmes and supports the work of NGOs at community level even more.

National and international NGOs have shared experiences of the complexity involved, and resources required, to use different EU and MS funding mechanisms. They identify the diversity of practices, rules, project proposals, and reporting formats of these funding mechanisms as key obstacles to effective nexus programming.

- I. ECHO, DEVCO, and MS should simplify and harmonise project proposals, rules, and reporting across the different financing mechanisms, capitalising on the flexibility in the 2018 revision of the EU Financial Regulation.
- II. EU and MS humanitarian aid policies and tools must better reflect the Grand Bargain commitments, especially for quality (multi-year and un-earmarked) funding and planning, and for localisation.

4. ALL RELEVANT ACTORS NEED TO WORK TOWARDS A CULTURAL SHIFT:

Where relevant, humanitarian, development, and peace actors who can contribute to a nexus approach to a greater or lesser extent, need to engage with each other, recognising that it takes time to build trust, find flexible ways to respond to the needs of crisis-affected populations, and to ensure that risks and accountability are shared. Management within organisations/aid departments/foreign ministries should strongly support this process in the long-term by undertaking the following:

- I. Exploring incentives to work together across departments; and
- II. Responding openly to requests from their colleagues to fund innovative or more joined-up approaches to work in a nexus approach.

ANNEX 1: MYANMAR WORKSHOP REPORT AND AGENDA

NGO/EU WORKSHOP IN MYANMAR, 14-15 MARCH 2019 WORKSHOP REPORT







BACKGROUND

As part of a broader study that VOICE (Voluntary Organisations in Cooperation in Emergencies) is carrying out on how NGOs engage with the European Union's nexus approach, a workshop was held with NGOs and EU representatives in Myanmar: one of the EU's six nexus pilot countries. The workshop was held over two days. The first day brought together around 20 national, local, and international NGOs. The second day brought those same NGOs together with representatives from the EU (ECHO and DEVCO), EU Member States, and representatives from OCHA and the UN Humanitarian Coordinator/Resident Coordinator's office.

INTRODUCTION

The workshop was intended to contribute to developing a dialogue between NGOs, the EU, and the broader UN related to the humanitarian-development-peace nexus (HDPN). From the perspective of VOICE, the workshop could help showcase and highlight the opportunities and challenges, as well as the enabling environment required, to work on nexus programming. It also provided an occasion to consider the usefulness of the nexus approach and what it means for principled humanitarian action. While the "nexus" comes up frequently at different meetings in Myanmar, there had not been an opportunity for NGOs to collectively engage on the subject. As such, the workshop was a welcome first discussion on the nexus in Myanmar that brought together the range of different actors.

From the EU perspective, the workshop was seen as a timely opportunity to engage with NGOs, given that the EU in Myanmar was still at the "maturation stage" when it came to work on the nexus. Myanmar faces a human rights crisis, which has humanitarian and development consequences. For responses to be effective in such a context, a nexus type of approach is required. Within the EU Delegation, three main areas of focus had been identified within the nexus approach:

- 1. Forced displacement;
- 2. Nutrition and livelihoods; and
- 3. Natural disasters and resilience.

The EU's focus, to date, in Myanmar, had been to make sense of the nexus and develop a *Nexus Action Plan* to get the political, humanitarian, and development parts of the EU working together. A next step was to work with EU Member States around the nexus. From the EU's perspective, NGOs – as implementers of programmes – would have important answers to the questions around how to operationalise the nexus. NGOs were invited to provide constructive criticism and to suggest creative solutions to move forward, without focusing too much on the funding side, which is, of course, a key concern.

WORKSHOP PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES

The first day examined NGO experiences with nexus approaches and identified some of the enablers and barriers to nexus programming. The first day's findings were discussed with the broader group on the second day, which then led to jointly developing a set of proposed next steps. The workshop's objectives included the following:

- 1. Identify ways that NGOs can better engage with the EU's nexus approach in Myanmar moving forward;
- 2. Highlight existing good practices of the nexus approach being implemented by NGOs;
- 3. Identify the challenges and opportunities of working in a nexus approach in Myanmar;
- 4. Consider potential thematic and geographic areas where the nexus approach could be usefully applied in Myanmar; and
- 5. Recommend potential changes that may be needed to enable a nexus approach in terms of funding instruments or other EU programmatic approaches in Myanmar or more broadly.

This report provides some of the main points of discussion and next steps arising from the two days. Elements and findings of the workshop also inform the broader VOICE nexus study.

NGO/EU WORKSHOP IN MYANMAR, 14-15 MARCH AGENDA

DAY 1: NGO WORKSHOP (14 MARCH 2019)

08:30-09:00 09:00-09:30	 Registration Welcome and Introductions of Participants (plenary) Welcome by co-hosts VOICE and EU and INGO Forum Why this workshop at this time? Introduction to VOICE and its work on the nexus and the intended outcomes of the workshop Introduction of Participants Overview of the workshop agenda over the two days and objectives Expected outcome: Understand the objectives of the workshop and why the
	workshop presents an opportunity to better engage with the EU (and UN) on the nexus approach at this point in time, as well the opportunity to advocate vis-à-vis the EU in Brussels.
09:30-10:00	 The Humanitarian-Development-Peace Nexus (plenary) Global developments: The EU's Nexus Approach and the UN's New Way of Working ("NWOW") [VOICE/Consultant, someone from the EU or UN] How the global developments around the nexus and NWOW are being translated to date in Myanmar [EU/UN/INGO Forum] Expected outcomes: Understand the recent developments at the global level and their impact on Myanmar to date and in future.

10:00-12:15	 NGO Programming across the Nexus (group work and plenary) Sharing of examples of nexus programming What were positive/negative aspects of these examples? What were the enablers or barriers to the nexus programming? What lessons were learned from the programming that can be replicated or built upon? What roles did donors play that was helpful or less helpful? Expected outcomes: Capture examples of successful (and less successful) nexus programming, as well as identify concrete challenges and opportunities that nexus programming presents.
12:15-13:00	Break
13:00-14:30	 Exploring the Enablers and Barriers to the Nexus Approach in Myanmar (group work and plenary) Building on the examples discussed in the morning, identify and prioritise the key enablers to nexus programming and how those factors can be achieved. Identify and examine the barriers to nexus programming and explore what can be done to reduce or remove those barriers Expected outcomes: Develop a prioritised list of enablers for nexus programming and what needs to be done to achieve them, as well as define what barriers need to be addressed and start defining what could be done to remove those barriers.
14:30-14:45	Break
14:45-16:00	 Developing Recommendations and Next Steps for Engagement with EU Donors and the UN (group work and plenary) Building upon the previous sessions outcomes, develop clear recommendations for the EU, its Member States, and the UN (in terms programmatic, financing, geographical priorities, etc.). Develop a proposed set of next steps for engagement with the EU, its Member States, and the UN in Myanmar and in Brussels for discussion on Day 2. Expected outcomes: A clear set of recommendations and proposed next steps for engagement with the EU, its Member States, and the UN in Myanmar and in Brussels.
16:00-16:30	 Wrap Up and Agreement on Day 2's presentation/format (plenary) Summary of the day and the recommendations and next steps to be proposed on Day 2. Agreement on who will present what elements on Day 2, how, and when. Thank you and closing
16:30	Close of Workshop

DAY 2: EU/NGO WORKSHOP (15 MARCH 2019)

08:30-09:00	Registration
09:00-09:30	 Welcome and Introductions Welcome by co-hosts VOICE and EU and INGO Forum Why this workshop at this time? VOICE's work on the nexus and purpose of the two days of workshops (5 min) EU's nexus approach and the EU's priorities in Myanmar (10-15 min) Introduction of Participants Overview of the day's objectives Expected outcome: Understand the objectives of the day and why the workshop presents an opportunity to better engage with the EU (and UN) on the nexus approach at this point in time, as well the opportunity to advocate vis-à-vis the EU in Brussels.
09:30-10:00	Overview of the Outcomes of Day 1 (plenary) • Recommendations and proposed next steps for engagement Expected outcome : Clear understanding by new participants of the outcomes, recommendations, and proposed next steps from the NGO workshop
10:00-11:30	 Discussing the Recommendations and Proposed Next Steps for Engagement (group work) What recommendations are realistic or not? How can the unrealistic ones be changed to be more realistic? Are the proposed next steps for engagement realistic or do elements need to be adjusted to be more realistic? Are there elements that were missed that need to be included in terms of recommendations or next steps for engagement? Expected outcome: Examining and suggesting adjustments to make the recommendations and proposed next steps achievable and realistic
11:30-12:30	Agreeing on Recommendations and Next Steps for Engagement (plenary) • Take the outcomes of the group work and agree in plenary on the way forward Expected outcome: Agreeing on a collective engagement strategy on the nexus in Myanmar and recommendations to be taken forward in Myanmar and in Brussels
12:30-13:00	Wrap Up and Closing • Summary of the day and next steps • Thank you and closing
13:00	End of workshop and Lunch

NGO GOOD PRACTICES OF THE NEXUS APPROACH

The workshop deliberately did not attempt to reach a consensus on what comprises nexus programming, as finding consensus around a common definition risked dominating the workshop. There were also no criteria imposed on what constitutes a "good practice" of the nexus approach, given that it was an initial conversation. Further down the line, there could be discussions around trying to define, 'What is good nexus programming?' The result is that some of the examples highlighted by NGOs as examples of nexus programming could be considered to be examples of good programming rather than nexus programming. Organisations self-identified the enabling environment and factors, as well as the barriers they faced in implementing a nexus approach.

Before discussing the different types of nexus programming being undertaken by NGOs in Myanmar, the example of the Durable Peace Programme (DPP) was presented as a long-standing programme in Kachin and Northern Shan, which is being implemented by a consortium of national and international NGOs. Other examples highlighted by NGOs of good nexus programming covered different regions and sectors, including: education in Kachin and Northern Shan; a rights-based empowerment approach; and an area-based rehabilitation approach in Kachin. (See <u>Annex 1 B</u> for more details of some of the good practices identified.)



The Nexus workshop in Myanmar

IDENTIFYING THE ENABLERS AND BARRIERS TO A NEXUS APPROACH

Based on the exchanges of experiences in implementing a nexus approach, it was clear that there were a number of common challenges in bridging the humanitarian-development-(peace) divide. Among the most common barriers identified were donor approaches and demands; organisational cultures; and institutional and systemic ways of working.

Many organisations are trying to do some elements related to nexus programming. It was consistently found that the donor, organisational, and institutional barriers, which, at times, prevent genuinely putting people and communities at the centre of responses is one of the most fundamental challenges facing more nexus-like programming. Further exploration of enablers and barriers led to a number of agreed areas, some of which fall into both categories, depending on how they are approached.

ENABLERS:

- **1. Putting affected people and communities at the centre of responses:** Any nexus approach must be built upon the perspectives, ideas, and views of people and communities, who know their needs best, with targeting strategies to ensure the inclusion of the most vulnerable.
- **2. Joint analysis of the context:** Joint analysis of a context is necessary before embarking on a successful nexus approach. Joint analysis requires sharing information and respecting principles and the ways of working between humanitarian, development, and peace actors. In the case of the EU and governments, they also have the added element of their political and foreign policy sides, which can contribute to the context analysis.
- **3. Building on the leadership of local actors:** By working with local actors and building on their leadership given their close connections with communities programmes can be better designed for what people want/need, while respecting principles and the ways of working of different actors. Local leadership strengthens accountability and trust with communities, and enables effective programming in a very difficult and politicised context.
- **4. Flexible, adaptive (creative), multi-year programming and funding:** Programming and funding for programmes must be based on what people and communities propose. Funding over multiple years has proven to be beneficial to learn from previously implemented activities; to increase joint programming; and to build trust between consortium partners. For example, pre-defining the areas of focus for the EU's nexus approach does not really allow for putting people at the centre: they may have other priority areas that would benefit from a nexus approach.
 - **DEVCO calls for proposals allow for the inclusion of crisis modifiers**, which can enable a shift from development to humanitarian programming as the context changes, although the overly prescriptive requirements of the call to proposals are seen as a barrier.
 - Including an **emergency budget line or contingency line in budgets** that allows shifting to an emergency response provides much-needed flexibility.

- Top up mechanisms for existing grants are helpful if humanitarian needs arise: They should be considered more broadly so that the whole proposal/contract process does not have to be repeated when an emergency response is required.
- **Flexibility to shift sub-grants** from one recipient to another are useful, but more flexible limits are required to enable more creative and responsive programming.
- More appropriate and flexible visibility requirements: Some visibility requirements are neither respectful nor empowering, but INGOs and the EU (as well as other donors) often insist on displaying their logos prominently, for example, on people's houses or on toilets that have been constructed. The strict rules around visibility need to be made more flexible. For example, a central board could indicate which donors/NGOs have contributed what resources in a particular area.
- Activities driven by context changes: Finding ways to work across humanitarian and development funding by having donors respond positively to changes. For example, if the situation changes and an organisation requests changes to its DEVCO funded programme, bring in the ECHO person to help assess the changes required.
- Donors must be open to risk and sharing accountability, but that requires trust.
- **5. Building trust between partners:** LNGOs/NNGOs/INGOs/donors: Building trust takes time and effort, but when trust is built, it can be an enabling factor that allows for programming to be more adaptive and flexible.
 - The good working relationships that implementing partners have with DEVCO and ECHO should be used to work towards the adaptation of programmes with more of a nexus approach.
- 6. Programmatic coordination of internal humanitarian and development programmes, complemented by staff with experience of both: Coordinating internally between humanitarian, development, and peace programmes requires time and understanding of the different principles and ways of working involved. Having individuals with experience working across the different elements can enhance such internal coordination.
 - In some organisations, combining humanitarian and development departments, developing joint strategies, and investing in shared human resources has helped with better nexus programming.

- 7. Coordination and deep discussions across humanitarian-development-peace organisations are needed: There is currently no forum that brings together the different actors to discuss the nexus approach in a concerted, thoughtful manner. Donors have discussed the nexus. The UN has discussed the nexus, the 'new way of working', and Strategic Frameworks for Kachin and Northern Shan, but there is no forum that brings donors and the UN together with NGOs and which goes beyond simple information sharing.
 - NGOs, ECHO, and DEVCO should share relevant information with all parties on the nexus (between themselves and with external parties). NGOs can share their experience of working on the nexus with ECHO and DEVCO to help influence their thinking and funding.
 - Use existing platforms or working groups, e.g. Southeast Working Group (in existence since 2015), to ensure regional and sub-regional discussions around the nexus are integrated to enable better coordination among different actors.

8. Flexibility and creativity at an institutional and individual level combined with political/ personal will or engagement.

- Individuals matter: Individuals can play an important role in creative approaches to programming and funding, for example, in exploring the existing flexibility in donor contracts or navigating internal institutional systems. When those individuals leave, however, there is a risk that someone with the same creative approach will not replace them. Ensuring that such 'soft skills' are part of human resources' systems is key.
- ECHO and DEVCO: Consult each other on calls for proposals and review proposals based on their respective expertise to ensure that humanitarian principles are respected and to consider ways to jointly fund nexus proposals.
- Combine efforts to better communicate what the EU is doing: many local organisations were unaware of the EU's work on the nexus, for example.
- **9. Working on a thematic area**: Certain cross-cutting themes, like gender-based violence (GBV) or safeguarding make it easier to shift from a humanitarian to development response and vice versa.



The Nexus workshop in Myanmar

BARRIERS

- Putting affected people and communities at the centre of responses: While it is a mantra in most organisations, the reality is such that it does not always happen, given various constraints (organisational, individual, donor, institutional, etc.). There is a risk that the nexus can become less linked to the needs of people and more linked to the needs of institutions.
 - Donor portfolios are imposed and do not put people at the centre.
 - Logframes do not allow the flexibility to respond to the needs of people and humanitarian crises that might occur during programme cycles: theories of change are better.
 - Lighter systems for adaptation and approval of changes to programmes are needed.
 - Donors need to do more to understand and communicate changes in a specific crisis/context with their headquarters.
 - The NGO community needs to advocate and communicate more on putting people at the centre and help take lessons learned forward.
- 2. Joint analysis can be challenging, given different principles and ways of working: The principles by which humanitarian actors, development actors, and peace actors work are different and sometimes may not align. For example, NGOs will work with communities to meet humanitarian needs, while development actors may work with government actors who may have contributed to the situation driving those humanitarian needs. Humanitarian actors and many development actors will have a people-centred approach (at least in theory). Many donors will support the development priorities of government actors, which may not have the same approach as other actors.
- **3. Risk aversion/lack of sharing of accountability/responsibility:** Increasingly, risk, accountability, and responsibility are transferred to NGOs from donors. The nexus inherently implies taking risks, which must be shared across donors and those implementing programmes. Particular consideration must be given to the risk absorption capacity of local NGOs.
- **4. Different principles:** Humanitarian principles and the legal basis for humanitarian response can be quite different to the 'principles' that are used for development (e.g. Sustainable Development Goals, human rights, the Paris principles). These different principles mean different approaches and understandings of what may be the best response.
- 5. Different mandates: Whether between humanitarian and development actors or between humanitarian and development donors (e.g. ECHO and DEVCO or within a donor government), the different mandates of actors mean that they work with different approaches and partners in terms of what activities they will fund and for how long.

- **6. Financial systems:** Different financial instruments and financial oversights drive the divide between humanitarian and development responses. There are numerous barriers related to financial systems ranging from more 'simple' things, like different exchange rates between ECHO and DEVCO and procurement rules, to more 'complex' issues like reporting requirements. While it is difficult to change from Myanmar, these are issues that should be addressed at the Brussels level.
 - Humanitarian funding time lines are generally quite short and should be longer, particularly where there are links to the nexus.
 - The different exchange rates used for ECHO and DEVCO contracts should be streamlined.
 - Analyse (at Brussels level) the existing EU and ECHO instruments to seek flexibilities to support nexus programme. Consider how different EU financing instruments can be combined with ECHO funds and consider combined reporting. Financing instruments should not just be for INGOs, but also for NNGOs.
 - ECHO and EU colleagues should advocate with their own HQs for more flexibility in the interpretation of financing instruments. The EU, for example, does not have a financial mechanism to operate in the grey area between DEVCO grants and ECHO operations. A flexible or transitional aid mechanisms could help fill that gap.
 - NGOs should have discussions with their headquarters about the eligibility of funding in complex protracted crisis situations: are they seeking the right exemptions (e.g. on registration of organisations)? Does the EU have to ask partners to suspend all programmes if the context changes, given that it is a huge constraint to nexus programming?
 - Increased support from ECHO and other EU financing instruments for early recovery.
 - Allow combined ECHO and EU audits.
- 7. Coordination mechanisms are not bringing different actors together: Development generally does not have inclusive coordination structures that are comparable to humanitarian coordination. The Coordination Partners Group (CPG), which brings together development donors and the UN, has a nexus work stream, but there is limited engagement of NGOs. The UN Country Team, which addresses development matters, does not include NGOs. There are few opportunities for discussions on the nexus approach and to coordinate between the humanitarian and development coordination forums in-country.
- 8. Institutions/Individuals: Institutional structures and ways of working and individuals can be barriers to the nexus approach if they are not creative and take the time to look for solutions. Organisational imperatives (e.g. staffing, presence, relationships, competition) can often trump engagement based on principles, but individuals can work to change the focus of institutions.

9. Localisation is neither being put into practice extensively nor meeting targets despite commitments at the World Humanitarian Summit and the Grand Bargain.

10. Lack of consultation with NGOs on the EU nexus pilot and three areas of focus:

- Consult NGOs and make it an on-going process of consultation, including by strengthening and consulting civil society organisation (CSO) coordination platforms.
- Consult at state and national level to ensure context specificity and the participation of more voices and linkages to the sector working groups.

NEXT STEPS FOR ENGAGEMENT

Following further discussions, a number of concrete recommendations and next steps were developed with all workshop participants to be taken forward in Myanmar, as well as at the Brussels level (see <u>Annex 1 A</u>). It was also emphasised that NGOs looked forward to being engaged by the EU as they developed their priorities and action plans under the previously identified three focus areas (forced displacement, nutrition, and natural disasters).

MOVING BEYOND INSTRUMENTS AND SYSTEMS

The recommendations and next steps were very much focused on instruments and systems. The programmatic elements of the nexus would need to be looked at further down the line. It will also be important to bring in the UN, other donors, and the government into the discussions at some point. It was proposed that a mapping of who is doing what, where, and when in the contested areas would be necessary to understand where funds are going over time, in order to join up the dots between different efforts related to humanitarian, development, and peace.

STRENGTHEN NGO INFLUENCE ON THE EU NEXUS

A recommendation was made for VOICE and CONCORD to consider joining forces on the nexus in Brussels. Given that DEVCO's primary NGO interlocutor is CONCORD, and that the two networks have many members in common, those NGOs could encourage CONCORD to engage with the nexus discussions. A joint VOICE-CONCORD position and advocacy strategy would strengthen NGO influence.

MOVING BEYOND THE EU

While the workshop and next steps were very much focused on the EU's nexus approach, it was noted that the conversations would need to look eventually at how EU Member States approach the nexus and how their systems and instruments enable or create barriers to the nexus approach.

CONCLUSION AND FOLLOW-UP

The workshop in Myanmar was meant to start a conversation on the nexus approach in Myanmar. In substance, however, many of the issues discussed have been raised before, more recently during the World Humanitarian Summit and in The Grand Bargain. The nexus approach brings to the surface many of the challenges that are endemic to aid: institutional barriers, financing mechanisms, individuals, different language and principles, and more. All of these issues make it challenging to seamlessly transition from humanitarian to development programming.

If there is to be a true shift towards ensuring no gap between humanitarian and development programming, the systems need to shift and centre around people's needs in a timely flexible adaptable manner. There are opportunities to be creative within institutions and to work with champions who can see ways around the various barriers. Many of these barriers are not new, but as they are linked to the nexus, there is an opportunity to use the nexus to make the case for change.

There was a commitment from the organisers to ensure that the dialogue would continue with concrete actions and not be just another workshop without follow-up.

Both NGO and EU colleagues stated that they should be accountable and committed to meet in 6 months to see what has been done, with a check-in requested from VOICE in the interim.

Manisha Thomas, Independent Consultant

ANNEX 1A: NEXT STEPS/ ENGAGEMENT ON THE (EU) NEXUS APPROACH

PROPOSALS FROM THE NGO/EU WORKSHOP IN MYANMAR, 14-15 MARCH 2019

WHO/WHAT	WHERE	WHEN	ноw	OTHER/RELATED
VOICE/ CONCORD	Brussels	ASAP	Advocacy around the "traditional" mechanisms to move more towards a more transitional fund- ing mechanism (e.g. like Germany's). Address the following: • top-ups • responsive • direct-granting • sub-grant ceiling	 VOICE and CONCORD should join voices and take this forward in Brussels
EU and Chair	Yangon	ASAP	 Reinvigorate the CPG's nexus work stream 	
EU and other donors	Yangon	In the interim	 Continue to consider use of multi-donor funds (not trust funds) as a modality for nexus and to get around institu- tional funding restric- tions 	

WHO/WHAT	WHERE	WHEN	нош	OTHER/RELATED
NGOs	Myanmar	At contracting stage	 NGOs to engage more with DEVCO more for "protracted crisis" declaration, which provides the justification for flexibility in contract negotiations 	Having an institution- alised tool for DEVCO to work in protract ted crises would be an in- teresting opportunity to explore in Brussels
			 Openness to adaptive log frames rooted in theories of change and NGOs to include in special conditions 	Hope there will be support from the donors to be more flexible and adaptable log frames that are open to theories of change
DEVCO Call for Proposals			 Add contingency/ crisis modifier in DEVCO funded projects If contingency/crisis modifiers are already used/applied, ECHO and DEVCO should coordinate more on hu- manitarian components of DEVCO programmes 	
Applicants/ NGOs/INGOs			 When contingency is activated, ensure quick situation/context updates Triggers (e.g. safe/ unsafe, stable, etc.): to be systematised and streamlined, but light 	
ECHO/ DEVCO	Regional basis		 The 3 nexus themes identified by the EU should not exclude other contextual critical humanitarian needs: continue the conversa- tion to allow for adjust- ing based on the needs Should not be too prescriptive 	

WHO/WHAT	WHERE	WHEN	ноw	OTHER/RELATED
ECHO/ DEVCO			 Share the EU Nexus Action Plan (including national priorities) Provide a short overview of the nexus in an easy to understand way 	
EU and humanitarian/ development partners (local/ national international)	Regional basis	Regularly	 Regular coordination to ensure the premises/ analysis are relevant and agree a response plan 	
DEVCO			 To rigorously apply the due diligence/safe- guarding in protracted contexts 	Helps to speak the lan- guage of development actors and humanitarian actors
ECHO/ DEVCO			 Adaptable/contextual response plan – allows for flexibility if there are humanitarian needs to be met 	Being introduced by Metta
ECHO/ DEVCO/ Donors			 Joint missions will help learning around the nexus and context 	
ECHO/ DEVCO/ Donors			 Identify champions because change really comes from individuals put in place SOPs so that coordination does not disappear Document/Systematise ways of working to help bridge the divide (SOPs at country-level) 	Operational change can lead to institutional change
EU/ECHO and nexus pilots	Projection implemen- tation	Regular evaluation cycles	 Need to see more proof/evidence that nexus approach is work- ing: the 4 DEVCO pilots should share approaches and lessons Ask ourselves is the nexus approach is working in the context so have contextualised evidence 	 DPP is willing to contribute to the exercise Meet with other nexus pilot projects quarterly to share information and learn

WHO/WHAT	WHERE	WHEN	ноw	OTHER/RELATED
EU/ECHO and nexus pilots and nexus work stream	Yangon	Quarterly	 Sharing of approaches 	
EEAS/DEVCO/ ECHO	Brussels	ASAP	 Identify Lessons learned from blended financing instruments – analysis of nexus programming 	
EU and ECHO partners/ implementers	Myanmar	Ad hoc • June 2019	 Joint monitoring visits by EU political/ECHO/ DEVCO 	
EU and ECHO (other donors)	Yangon	ASAP	 Potential nexus fund given that the current financial instruments do not exist (justification is needed) 	
Donors and partners	Myanmar	Whenever launch takes place	 Consultations when funds are launched 	
EU	Myanmar	ASAP	 Principle setting— shared positions, if possible, but at least some red lines, which could show intent and help shift the focus of EU engagement 	 Trade has not even been discussed yet E.g. redlines on camp closures
EU and partners	Myanmar	ASAP	 EU Nexus Action Plan NGOs would like to contribute to help operationalise it 	 Find a format to work on operationalising the EU Nexus Action Plan

ANNEX 1B: EXAMPLES OF NGO (EU) NEXUS PROGRAMMING IN MYANMAR

The following highlights some of the self-identified examples of NGO nexus programming in Myanmar that were discussed during the workshop.

THE DURABLE PEACE PROGRAMME (DPP)

Overview: The DPP works across the triple nexus (humanitarian-development-peace). Started in 2014 by the Joint Strategy Team (a group of local NGOs (LNGOs)), they later asked international NGOs (INGOs) to join. An integrated context analysis has been part of how the DPP is addressing humanitarian-development-peace challenges in a holistic way. The four LNGO and three INGO members of the consortium are diverse, with some being focused on humanitarian response, others on development, and others on peace, allowing each to contribute their own area of expertise. Currently in its second phase, the DPP has received EUR 19 million over 7 years from the EU. The EU's donor engagement has also been supportive in trying to consider the several theories of change and advocacy.

One of the ways in which the DPP has implemented a nexus approach has been by focusing on several outcome areas and working with host communities and displaced people, including:

- **Durable solutions and resilience** to address the consequences of displacement in Kachin and Northern Shan by providing internally displaced persons (IDPs) with information and by raising awareness to enable voluntary returns.
- Livelihoods and income generation for IDPs and conflict affected communities to ensure that they can increase their incomes.
- **Peacebuilding and social cohesion,** which includes work on interfaith dialogue at the local level, (para)legal support and complaints desks, and training peace builders who can influence the national peace process.

- Gender equality and GBV prevention, which was added as a standalone outcome in the second phase because mainstreaming gender in the first phase was inadequate. The DPP focuses on addressing national laws related to gender and responding to victims of gender-based violence (GBV).
- Capacity-building and supporting local civil society has meant that 27 organisations have been supported to work together, from small-scale community development associations to those influencing the national peace process and development agenda.

Self-identified Enablers/Barriers to the Nexus Approach: In addition to the diversity of the consortium, the positive donor engagement, and the long-standing programme, the fact that the DPP was set up and led by local organisations, which then asked INGOs to support and joint the programme, has been a positive enabling factor for the programme. The DPP agreed to centre its programme decision-making on the preferences of displaced people. This focus helped to mitigate the risks associated with engaging with national peace processes, which are inherently political, but need to be balanced with humanitarian principles and development practices. As such, the localisation agenda is seen as central to the nexus approach.

KACHIN BAPTIST CONVENTION (KBC)

Overview: The Kachin Baptist Convention (KBC) started working first on community development before integrating humanitarian activities during the conflict. They decided to shift from a "receiving" model of humanitarian aid to a "self-reliance" model and so combined their humanitarian and development programmes to have integrated programmes. For example, they provide training in education committees, not just providing education kits. KBC provides training on wiring and repairs for shelters that they build. In addition to food distributions, KBC also supports home gardening programmes to ensure adequate nutrition.

Self-identified Enablers/Barriers to the Nexus Approach: One of the challenges KBC faced, having many donors as well as many implementing partners and sector programmes, was similar trainings and too much overlap. They were finding they had to fragment their programmes to fit the components into different donors' existing priorities, timeframes, and expectations. The organisation recently reformed to have a new oversight structure that combines the expertise of the humanitarian and development departments, which helps colleagues further understand and protect humanitarian principles.

PEOPLE IN NEED (PIN) WITH THE KACHIN BAPTIST CONVENTION (KBC)

Overview: People in Need (PIN), working with the Kachin Baptist Convention (KBC), addresses the gaps in standard programmes focused education in emergencies (EiE) in Kachin State. Given that humanitarian funding cycles for education programmes are too short, they have blended education for IDP children (i.e. access to education (student kits, rehabilitating infrastructure, and promoting enrolment) and quality education (teacher training and protection) components) with a livelihoods component. Through Technical and Vocational Training and Education (TVET) and 'life' skills development, they provide IDP children and youth (ages 15-25) who may not – or could not – access education with apprenticeship schemes and business skills and 'life' skills training. The project relies on building partnerships with the private sector to generate livelihoods opportunities.

Self-identified Enablers/Barriers to the Nexus Approach: The fact that KBC is one of the largest humanitarian aid providers in Kachin and Northern Shan, combined with PIN's technical and programmatic capacity, means that they have been able to find creative solutions around aid limitations and find local solutions through regular coordination, frequent field visits, and information exchange.

RIGHTS-BASED EMPOWERMENT APPROACH

Overview: The Rights-Based Empowerment Approach is people-centred, integrated, and focused on rights-based empowerment. The Lutheran World Federation works with a broad range of partners to facilitate processes that enable people to have the capacity and confidence to manage their own affairs and to close gaps between stakeholders (duty bearers and the marginalised/vulnerable populations). The programme links education in emergency programmes with the country's education strategies and policies. The programme also engages constructively with rights holders at various levels, which is essential for a rights-based approach. Such an approach takes time and requires listening to people and ensuring that the priority is people first, then organisations, and finally donors. The rights-based approach helps to promote evidence-based advocacy by identifying local issues and connecting them to the policy level.

Self-identified Enablers/Barriers to the Nexus Approach: Short-term emergency funding was helpful to address the initial emergency, but to be most useful, it needs to be followed by longer-term recovery and development funding, which is conflict sensitive and addresses root causes.

WORLD VISION'S AREA REHABILITATION PROGRAMME (ARP) IN FRAGILE CONTEXTS

Overview: World Vision's ARP is being implemented over 5 years in Wingmaw township in Kachin. The ARP is a flexible, multi-sector programming model that starts with core funding over 3-5 years to address immediate needs, while also bringing together local community leaders and groups to enable a community-led vision for development. The ARP builds on WV's previous humanitarian work and can address emergency needs, recovery/medium-term needs, as well as longer-term needs. In Myanmar, the ARP ensures conflict sensitivity while focusing on rebuilding livelihoods, water resources, health, and education. The ARP concept recognises that in order to address poverty and vulnerability in fragile contexts, the root causes must be addressed.

The ARP seeks to confront the challenges most often faced in fragile contexts: the instability of funding streams and poor project integration. The Kachin ARP focuses on three main outcomes related to child protection, WASH, and livelihoods by working through three main spheres of influence: individuals and communities' livelihoods and well-being; the public sphere; and the private sphere.

Self-identified Enablers/Barriers to the Nexus Approach: The programme is flexible and can be adapted to a changing context: it can be used for emergency response or evolve into a longer-term development programme. The ARP is not solely dependent on donor funding: private sources fund the programme, which are then used to leverage other donor funding. As such, the scale of the programme will rely on other donor funding. The 3-5 year commitment allows for continuity in relationships with the community and other local stakeholders and enables greater community engagement and capacity strengthening, leading to greater self-reliance, resilience, and sustainability.

ANNEX 2: SELECTED RESOURCE LIST

Carbonnier, Giles. Revisiting the nexus: Numbers, principles, and the issue of social change. Humanitarian Law & Policy Blog, ICRC. 4 October 2018: <u>https://blogs.icrc.org/law-and-policy/2018/10/04/</u> revisiting-nexus-numbers-principles-issue-social-change/

CARE. CARE's policy thinking around the nexus. CARE. March 2018.

Christopolos, Ian. Links between Relief, Rehabilitation and Development in the Tsunami Response: A Synthesis of Initial Findings. Joint Evaluation 2006: 5, Tsunami Evaluation Coalition. July 2006: https://www.sida.se/contentassets/6aa1638098544347b7b2f782308345e6/links-between-relief-rehabilitation-and-development-in-the-tsunami-response_3145.pdf

Commission of the European Communities. Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on Linking Relief, Rehabilitation and Development (LRRD). COM (96) 153 final. Brussels. 30 April 1996:

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:1996:0153:FIN:EN:PDF

Commission of the European Communities. Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on Linking Relief, Rehabilitation and Development – An assessment: COM (2001) 153 final. Brussels. 23 April 2001: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/sites/devco/files/</u> communication-naturaldisastersandcrisismanagement-com2001153-20010423_en.pdf

Council of the European Union. *Council conclusions on a Strategic Approach to Resilience in the EU's External Action*. 14191/17. Brussels. 13 November 2017: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/31519/ccs-on-resilience-in-eu-ea-st14191en17.pdf

Council of the European Union. *Council conclusions on EU approach to forced displacement and development*. Brussels. 12 May 2016: <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releas-es/2016/05/12/conclusions-on-forced-displacement-and-development/</u>

VOICE REPORT

Council of the European Union. *Council conclusions on EU approach to resilience*. 3241st Foreign Affairs Council Meeting. 14616/12. Brussels, 28 May 2013:

https://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms_Data/docs/pressdata/EN/foraff/137319.pdf

Council of the European Union. *Council Conclusions on the Integrated Approach to External Conflicts and Crises.* 5413/18. Brussels. 22 January 2018:

https://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/sites/devco/files/2018-01-cnl_conclusions_on_ia.pdf

Council of the European Union. *Council Conclusions on Operationalising the Humanitarian-Development Nexus*. 9383/17. Brussels. 19 May 2017: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/24010/nexus-st09383en17.pdf

Council of the European Union. *New European Consensus on Development*. 9459/17. Brussels. 19 May 2017: <u>http://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-9459-2017-INIT/en/pdf</u>

Council of the European Union. Security and Development - Conclusions of the Council and the Representatives of the Governments of the Member States meeting within the Council. 15097/07. Brussels. 20 November 2007: http://register.consilium.europa.eu/doc/srv?l=EN&t=PDF&g_c=true&sc=false&f=ST%2015097%202007%20INIT&r=http%253A%252F%252Fregister.consilium.europa.eu%252Fpd%252Fen%252F07%252Fst15%252Fst15097.en07.pdf

DARA, Commissioned by VOICE. The European Consensus on Humanitarian Aid: An NGO Perspective. VOICE Study. May 2014:

https://ngovoice.org/publications/2014-consensus-event-report.pdf

The European Consensus on Humanitarian Aid: The humanitarian challenge. Joint Statement by the Council and the Representatives of the Governments of the Member States meeting within the Council, the European Parliament and the European Commission. 2007: http://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/media/publications/consensus_en.pdf

European Commission. Commission Staff Working Document Accompanying the document: Lives in Dignity: from Aid-dependence to Self-reliance – Forced Displacement and Development. SWD (2016) 142 final. Brussels. 26 April 2016: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/policies/refugees-idp/Staff</u> working_document_Forced_Displacement_Development_2016.pdf

European Commission. Commission Staff Working Document: Action Plan for Resilience in Crisis Prone Countries 2013-2020. SWD(2013) 227 final. Brussels. 19 June 2013: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/echo/</u> files/policies/resilience/com_2013_227_ap_crisis_prone_countries_en.pdf

European Commission. Communication from The Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on Education in Emergencies and Protracted Crises. COM(2018) 304 final. Brussels. 18 May 2018: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/news/Communication_on_Education_in_Emergencies_and_</u> <u>Protracted_Crises.pdf</u>

European Commission. EU Resilience Compendium Saving lives and livelihoods. Brussels. March 2015: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/policies/resilience/eu_resilience_compendium_en.pdf</u>

European Commission. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the EU Approach to Resilience: Learning from Food Security Crises. COM(2012) 586 final. Brussels. 3 October 2012: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/sites/devco/files/the_eu_approach_to_resilience_learning_from_food_security_crises-com2012_586_final.pdf</u>

European Commission. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions on Lives in Dignity: from Aid-dependence to Self-reliance – Forced Displacement and Development. COM (2016) 234 final. Brussels. 26 April 2016: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/policies/refugees-idp/Com-munication_Forced_Displacement_Development_2016.pdf</u>

European Commission. Shared Vision, Common Action: A Stronger Europe -A Global Strategy for the European Union's Foreign and Security Policy. June 2016: https://eeas.europa.eu/archives/docs/top_stories/pdf/eugs_review_web.pdf

European Commission and High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy. Joint Communication to the European Parliament and the Council: A Strategic Approach to Resilience in the EU's external action. JOIN(2017) 21 final. Brussels. 7 June 2017: https://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/sites/devco/files/joint_communication_-a_strategic_approach_to_resilience_in_the_eus_external_action-2017.pdf

European Parliament. European Parliament resolution on Resilience as a strategic priority of the EU external action. (2017/2594(RSP)). 1 June 2017:

http://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2017-0242_EN.pdf?redirect

Ferris, Elizabeth. Transitions and Durable Solutions for Displaced Persons: 21 Reasons for Optimism. On the Record: The Brookings Institution. 2 May 2013: <u>https://www.brookings.edu/on-the-record/</u> <u>transitions-and-durable-solutions-for-displaced-persons-21-reasons-for-optimism/</u>

High-Level Meeting of the Joint Steering Committee to advance Humanitarian and Development Collaboration. *Background Document*. London. 2 May 2018: <u>https://www.un.org/jsc/sites/www.un-.org.jsc/files/general/background paper barriers and enablers jsc 2 may 2018.pdf</u>

ICVA. Demystifying the Humanitarian, Development and Peace Nexus. Learning Stream: https://www.icvanetwork.org/demystifying-nexus

ICVA. Learning Stream: Navigating the Nexus – Topic 1: The "nexus" explained. August 2018: https://www.icvanetwork.org/system/files/versions/ICVA_Nexus_briefing_paper%20%28Low%20 Res%29.pdf

InterAction. NGOs and Risks Managing uncertainty in local-international partnerships. 2019: https://www.interaction.org/blog/ngos-risk-managing-uncertainty-in-local-international-partnerships-global-report/

IRMA, LLC: Lezlie C. Moriniere and Hannah Vaughan-Lee. *Consultancy Report: Towards a Generic Definition of Collective Outcomes*. Inter-Agency Standing Committee Task Team for the humanitarian and development nexus (HDN TT). 15 March 2018.

Kittaneh, Anan and Antoinette Stolk. *Doing Nexus Differently: How can Humanitarian and Development Actors link or integrate humanitarian ac on, development, and peace?* Research Paper. CARE Regional Applied Economic Empowerment Hub. September 2018: <u>https://www.care.org/sites/de-</u> <u>fault/files/documents/care_hub_detailed_paper_doing_nexus_differently_final_sep_2018.pdf</u> Medinilla, Alfonso and Alisa Herrero Cangas, with support from Matthias Deneckere. 'Living Apart Together' EU Development Cooperation and Humanitarian Aid in Situations of Fragility and Protracted Crisis. Discussion Paper No. 206. European Centre for Development Policy Management. December 2016: <u>https://ecdpm.org/wp-content/uploads/DP206-Living-Apart-Together-Medinil-</u> <u>la-Herrero-Deneckere-December-2016.pdf</u>

Mosel, Irina and Simon Levine. Remaking the case for linking relief, rehabilitation and development: How LRRD can become a practically useful concept for assistance in difficult places. HPG Commissioned Report. March 2014:

https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/8882.pdf

OCHA. *New Way of Working*. OCHA Policy Development and Studies Branch (PDSB). 2017: <u>https://www.unocha.org/sites/unocha/files/NWOW%20Booklet%20low%20res.002_0.pdf</u>

OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC). DAC Recommendation on the Humanitarian-Development-Peace Nexus. OECD/LEGAL/5019. 22 February 2019: https://legalinstruments.oecd.org/en/instruments/OECD-LEGAL-5019_

OECD. Humanitarian-Development Coherence: The World Humanitarian Summit – Putting Policy into Practice. The Commitments into Action Series. OECD. 2017: <u>https://www.oecd.org/develop-</u> ment/humanitarian-donors/docs/COHERENCE-OECD-Guideline.pdf

Oxfam. Discussion Paper: The Humanitarian-Development-Peace Nexus: What does it mean for multi-mandated organisations? June 2019: <u>https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/</u> handle/10546/620820/dp-humanitarian-development-peace-nexus-260619-en.pdf;jsessionid=751B-87D3A5937CF056E874922AA318F8?sequence=1

Ramet, Valerie. Policy Briefing: Linking relief, rehabilitation and development: Towards more effective aid. DG EXPO/B/PolDep/Note/2012_74. Directorate-General for External Policies. European Parliament. July 2012: <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/briefing_note/join/2012/491435/EXPO-DEVE_SP(2012)491435_EN.pdf</u>

Red Cross EU Office and ICRC. Recommendations from the Red Cross EU Office and the International Committee of the Red Cross: The European Union Humanitarian– Development Nexus. December 2018: https://redcross.eu/positions-publications/the-eu-humanitarian-development-nexus

Refugee Studies Centre of the Oxford Department of International Development. *Forced Migration Review*. Issue 52. University of Oxford. May 2016: <u>https://www.fmreview.org/sites/fmr/files/FMR-downloads/en/solutions.pdf</u>

Ross, Jacob, Simon Maxwell, and Margaret Buchanan-Smith, *Linking Relief and Development*. Discussion Paper 344, Institute of Development. August 1994: <u>https://www.ids.ac.uk/files/dmfile/DP344.pdf</u>

Schmitz Guinote, Filipa. A humanitarian-development nexus that works. Humanitarian Law & Policy Blog, ICRC. 21 June 2018: <u>https://blogs.icrc.org/law-and-policy/2018/06/21/humanitarian-develop-ment-nexus-that-works/</u>

Slim, Hugo. Nexus thinking in humanitarian policy: How does everything fit together on the ground? Keynote Address by Dr Hugo Slim to the World Food Programme (WFP) Annual Partnership Consultations. Session on "The Triple Nexus of Humanitarian Action, Development and Peace: What is the Challenge for Humanitarian Principles, Operations and Partnerships?" ICRC. 25 October 2017: <u>https://www.icrc.org/en/document/nexus-thinking-humanitarian-policy-how-does-everything-fit-together-ground</u>

Solari, Giovanna. *Tsunami One Year After: NGO Aid Intervention and Future Challenges*. Joint CONCORD/VOICE Information Pack. November 2005: <u>https://voiceeu.org/search?q=Tsuna-</u> <u>mi+One+Year+After%3A+NGO+Aid+Intervention+and+Future+Challenges</u>

Transcending humanitarian-development divides – Changing People's Lives: From Delivering Aid to Ending Need, Commitment To Action. World Humanitarian Summit. 23 May 2016: https://www.agendaforhumanity.org/sites/default/files/WHS%20Commitment%20to%20action%20 -%20transcending%20humanitarian-development%20divides_0.pdf

UNDP, UNHCR, and World Bank. Concept Note: Transitional Solutions Initiative: UNDP and UNHCR in collaboration with the World Bank. October 2010: <u>https://www.unhcr.org/partners/part-ners/4e27e2f06/concept-note-transitional-solutions-initiative-tsi-undp-unhcr-collaboration.html</u>

United Nations General Assembly. *Repositioning the United Nations development system to deliver on the 2030 Agenda: ensuring a better future for all: Report of the Secretary-General.* A/72/124-E/2018/3. 11 July 2017: <u>https://undocs.org/A/72/124</u>

United Nations General Assembly. *Resolution on the Review of the United Nations peacebuilding architecture*. A/RES/70/262. 12 May 2016: <u>https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/generalassembly/docs/globalcompact/A_RES_70_262.pdf</u>

Unlocking Displacement Solutions – Storyline. Roundtable on Solutions. Copenhagen. 2-3 April 2014.

VOICE and CISP. Linking Relief to Rehabilitation and Development: Ideas and Suggestions from European NGOs. Rome. November 2001: <u>https://voiceeu.org/search?q=LINKING+RE-</u> <u>LIEF+TO+REHABILITATION+AND+DEVELOPMENT+Ideas+and+Suggestions+from+European+N-</u> <u>GOs+-+by+VOICE+and+CISP+-+2001</u>

VOICE and CONCORD. Linking Relief Rehabilitation and Development (LRRD): Towards a more joined up approach enhancing resilience and impact. VOICE-CONCORD position paper. July 2012: https://voiceeu.org/search?q=VOICE+CONCORD+Position+Paper+on+Linking+Relief+Rehabilita-tion+and+Development-LRRD-+July+2012

VOICE. Humanitarian Aid and the EU Comprehensive Approach: Recommendations. General Assembly Resolution. May 2013:

https://voiceeu.org/search?q=VOICE+2013+General+Assembly+resolution+

VOICE. Linking Relief Rehabilitation & Development (LRRD). General Assembly Resolution, Brussels. May 2002: <u>https://voiceeu.org/search?q=VOICE+General+Assembly+2002+resolution+on+LRRD</u>

VOICE. What Humanitarian NGOs are All About. General Assembly Resolution. May 2012: https://voiceeu.org/search?q=VOICE+2012+General+Assembly+Resolution VOICE. Consolidated input from VOICE members in response to the consultation on a new Joint Communication on Resilience. 28 February 2017.

https://voiceeu.org/search?q=VOICE+response+to+civil+society+consultation

VOICE. Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR) – a fundamental element of building resilience. Position Paper. October 2012: <u>https://voiceeu.org/search?q=voice+position+paper+drr</u>

VOICE. Disaster Risk Reduction in EU Humanitarian and Development Aid Policy. Policy Recommendations. July 2007: <u>https://ngovoice.org/publications/voice-policy-recommendations-on-disas-</u> ter-risk-reduction-in-eu-humanitarian-and-development-aid-policy-july-2007.pdf

VOICE. Ensuring people's needs are at the heart of the nexus approach: a humanitarian NGO approach. Policy Resolution. May 2018: <u>https://voiceeu.org/search?q=Ensuring+people%27s+needs+are+at+the+heart+of+the+nexus+approach</u>

VOICE. The Grey Zone or the Missing Link Between Relief, Rehabilitation and Development. Discussion Paper. February 2001: <u>https://voiceeu.org/search?q=+The+Grey+Zone%2C+or+The+Missing+Link</u>

VOICE. The Humanitarian-Development Nexus and the Humanitarian Principles: Complementary Approaches? Event Report. VOICE with the support of DanChurchAid. 29 November 2017: <u>https://voiceeu.org/search?q=The+humanitarian-development+nexus+and+the+humanitarian+principles</u>

VOICE. DRR Working Group Policy Recommendations for EC's Staff Working Paper following the adoption of the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction. January 2016: https://voiceeu.org/search?q=VOICE+DRR+WG+Input+to+the+European+Commission

VOICE. VOICE out loud: Exploring the Humanitarian-Development Nexus. Issue 26. November 2017: <u>https://voiceeu.org/search?q=VOICE+out+loud+26</u>

VOICE. Recommendations: Council Conclusions on the EU's Strategic approach to resilience. 21 September 2017: <u>https://voiceeu.org/search?q=VOICE+Policy+recommendations+-+Strategic+Approach+to+Resilience</u>

VOICE. *Statement on LRRD*. NGDO Meeting with Commissioner Nielson. 22 November 2002: https://voiceeu.org/search?q=VOICE+Statement+on+LRRD

VOICE. Statement on the next Multiannual Financial Framework. July 2018: <u>https://voiceeu.org/</u> search?q=VOICE+Statement+on+the+next+Multiannual+Financial+Framework

VOICE REPORT





Ľ

Ì

This document has been produced with the financial assistance of the European Commission through its Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection department. The views expressed herein should not be taken, in any way, to reflect the official opinion of the European Commission, which is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information it contains.

ć

ð

Ó



VOICE is the network of more than 80 European NGOs promoting principled and people-centred humanitarian aid. Collectively, VOICE aims to improve the quality and effectiveness of the European Union and its Member States' humanitarian aid. The network promotes the added value of NGOs as key humanitarian actors.

Rue Royale, 71 • 1000 Brussels • Belgium +32-(0)2-541 13 60 • voice@VOICEeu.org www.YOICEeu.org